# HOW CAN WE CREATE EMPOWERED EARLY CHILDHOOD CLASSROOMS?

# CHRISTINE PERREAUX Bachelor of Arts/Bachelor of Education, University of Lethbridge, 1999

A project submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

# **MASTER OF EDUCATION**

in

# **GENERAL**

Faculty of Education University of Lethbridge LETHBRIDGE, ALBERTA, CANADA

© Christine Perreaux, 2021

#### **Abstract**

The world has changed a great deal over the past one hundred years. Our classrooms for the most part however have remained relatively the same. The movement to engaged students was a step in the right direction when looking at modernizing the way we teach but it wasn't a big enough step. When we talk about engagement we really are still talking about compliance. In this project I explore six guiding principles that will allow kindergarten classrooms to become places of empowered learning. The six guiding principles are grounded in the work of Bailin and Battersby (2016), Bransford et al. (2000), Burke (2019), and Resnick (2018). They have a foundation in student-centred teaching practices as presented by Martin (2018) and Weimer (2013). These principles are purpose, peers, passions, projects, portfolios, and play. By using these 6 Ps as a guide when planning kindergarten programs we can create classrooms of critical, creative, and collaborative thinkers.

# **Dedication**

I dedicate this project to

all of my students, past and present,

you have taught me so much

about courage, passion, resiliency, and

most importantly love.

#### Acknowledgements

There are so many people with whom I could not have completed this project nor my masters without. First and foremost I must thank my family for all the support and encouragement. To my husband Tim who gave me the courage to start my masters and then never once complained when dinner was cereal or hot dogs. I am so grateful for his willingness to drive me to the mountains where I spent focused time writing and researching away from any distractions. To my daughter Emily who celebrated with me when I was accepted, prepared me for going to university in the modern era, and who bought me my first piece of university swag. To my parents Frank and Jeanette who have always been my biggest supporters. They not only taught me to follow my dreams, they have supported me every time and on every adventure.

I also could not have finished this project without the support of my amazing University of Lethbridge Curriculum and Assessment Cohort. Matt, Teri, Jen, and Naoko you have stuck with my through all the highs and lows. You have cried with me, celebrated with me, stressed with me, and believed in me, even if you think I am a bit of a hippie. Most importantly you reminded me to laugh and to not take life too seriously. I have learned so much from all of you and am proud that you are my friends.

I would like to thank all of my professors at the University of Lethbridge. Dr. David Slomp, thank you for reminding me that I am not "just" a kindergarten teacher and that my voice mattered too. Thank you for the fire side chat. Dr. Sharon Pelech, thank you for introducing me to others who shared the same philosophical views about education and for teaching me that I am not alone. Dr. Richelle Marynowski, thank you for keeping me laughing, for dissing calendar time with me, and for reminding me by your example the importance of relationships in education. Dr. Dawn Burleigh, thank you for teaching me that taking care of my mental health

and wellness was just as important as getting my paper written. Thank you for showing me the importance of nature when teaching and the power of sharing our knowledge while leaning against a tree. Dr. Robin Bright, thank you for all your help with this project and for reminding me of the power a story holds. Dr. Lance Grigg, you have been my biggest champion and cheer leader. Thank you for helping me discover my passion for critical thinking in the classroom, for bringing chess into my world, and for making me feel valued and important. Whenever imposter syndrome started to set in you were there celebrating something I had done or shared.

Finally I need to thank Dr. Amy von Heyking. You have been there for me since the very beginning. You talked with me at an open house and encouraged me not only to apply to the University of Lethbridge but to apply to the curriculum and assessment cohort. Having you as the supervisor for my final project has brought everything full circle. In my first summer course you taught me to write for me and from me. Through your example I have learned to be a curriculum warrior and that sometimes you need to shut the door on all the outside noise and teach from the heart. Thank you for your patience and support through this process. There are no words that fit when describing how grateful I am to you.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	vi
How Can We Create Empowered Early Childhood Classrooms?	1
The 6 Ps	7
Rationale for the 6 Ps	8
Purpose	8
Projects	9
Passions	11
Play	14
Peers	16
Portfolios	18
21st Century Competencies	19
Play-based Learning and the Competencies	20
Projects and the Competencies	22
Motivation and Achievement Through the 6 Ps	25
The 6 Ps of Empowerment Website	28
Peers	35
Projects	42
Play	46
Passions	51

	Portfolios	57
	Purpose	65
Conclusion		67
References		69

# **How Can We Create Empowered Early Childhood Classrooms?**

Throughout my teaching career I have watched the educational pendulum swing from one initiative to another and back again, jumped on several educational band wagons, and sought out the one program that would teach every child in my classroom how to be an excellent reader, writer, and an outstanding mathematician. The longer I taught, the more grades and students I gained experience with, the more I realized there was no such program. I started to reflect on my own teaching and my personal teaching philosophy. It became abundantly clear that my teaching practices and my classroom environment were not accurate reflections of what my personal creed was around education and the purpose of schools. I realized that how I was teaching was not encouraging students to think or teaching them how to be life-long learners. I was not addressing competencies that students need in order to be successful in this century. My teaching practices, while focused on engagement, were really all about compliance and traditions and not about fostering deep understanding.

I began to investigate innovative teaching practices. What I discovered was that most of the new and improved approaches to learning had roots in the theory of constructivism which has been around since the end of World War One. Schools and teachers celebrated in works such as *Creative Schools* by Robinson (2015) or *Life Long Kindergarten* by Resnick (2018) were using teaching techniques that have developed from the work of educational researchers such as Dewey (1859-1952), Montessori (1870-1952), Malaguzzi (1920-1994), Vygotsky (1896-1934), and Bruner (1915-2016). Today this learning theory is often referred to as student-centered teaching. It is teaching that engages students in the learning process by encouraging collaboration between peers and with the teacher, and by providing time for students to self-reflect and self-assess on the material being explored. Student-centered teaching involves

motivating and empowering students by allowing them to have a voice in what and how they learn. In a student-centered classroom, students do not learn by sitting passively while information is given to them. Martin (2018) states, "student-centered learning is a paradigm shift from teacher centered to learner centered. Shifting how we see learners and their critical role in their own learning now and throughout their lives" (p. 106). It is less about memorization and more about connecting learning to applications outside of the classroom and learning how to learn. The mandated curriculum is still taught in the student-centered classroom. The difference is that teachers use the content as a tool to help students learn important competencies needed in today's society. Teaching is about actively engaging students with the content as opposed to dropping information on students like rain drops, or torrential down pours in some subject areas, and hoping the students absorb something.

Student-centered learning often gets confused with discovery learning. In discovery learning a common assumption is that students will learn and perform on their own with minimal teacher guidance. Schunk (1996) explains the difference between student-centered learning and discovery learning by stating, "constructivism does not propound that learning principles exist and are to be discovered and tested, but rather learners create their own learning" (p. 236). In a student-centered classroom teachers believe that learning should occur with students as opposed to discovery learning that believes learning occurs in students, or the traditional model of learning where information is transmitted to students. Lee and Hannafin (2016) state, "students should be scaffolded through the process" (p. 708). This means that teachers move students' learning forward past current skill and knowledge levels with targeted instruction in the moment as required.

In a traditional classroom, students may learn addition through rote drill and practice. It often sounds like students reciting addition facts; it looks like students completing mad minute tests to see how many facts they can answer correctly in a short period of time. In a discovery classroom, students may be exposed to different concepts through the use of a provocation. A provocation is an object or book that students are exposed to in the hopes that it stimulates thinking in students (Wurm, 2005). For example, addition may be taught through the use of an addition provocation. This could look like a table with rocks, leaves, and dice along with a book about addition and students engage with the materials in whatever manner they choose while the teacher observes and makes notes on student exploration. Through repeated visits to the center students may eventually start to roll the dice and count out the corresponding number, and then roll the dice again and once again count out the corresponding number. The student may then choose to count how many rocks they have in total. The theory being that when the child is ready to learn the concept it will come from within themselves.

In contrast, in the student-centered classroom a teacher engages with students at a table with an addition game set up and actively participates in the learning process with the children. The teacher asks questions to make the students' thinking visible, models while providing just in time instructions. Students may learn addition through a purposeful project such as hosting a bake sale where students are learning how to add doubles to increase the size of a recipe or students are adding customer totals and making change. The students may participate in targeted practice prior to the execution of the bake sale at a dramatic play center of a grocery store where the teacher takes part in the play as a customer and helps students develop strategies for adding totals. Using dramatic or fantasy play is an important tool in the student-centred classroom as it is a natural way for students to make sense of the world around them. Paley (2004) states "there

is no activity for which children are better prepared than fantasy play" (p. 8). Dramatic play allows students to learn new concepts and skills in a minimal risk scenario. Teaching students concepts through dramatic play is a powerful way to meet them where they are at in their learning and help them to advance their understandings in meaningful ways.

Despite all the information and professional learning opportunities kindergarten teachers have had in my school district around play-based programming and the importance of projectbased learning in the classroom, for many years I found myself resorting to more traditional methods of teaching. The reason for my hesitancy to change was a lack of understanding on how to plan for student-centered learning activities, and concern on how my students would perform on year end standardized assessments. When I started to make changes to my program teachers from higher grades questioned me about whether my students would still be prepared for grade one. I had a lot of fear and was not completely prepared to defend my program choices. I was in what Knight (2018) refers to as the Zero Learning Zone. I was hearing and agreeing with the information I was receiving about play- and project-based learning, but I was not internalizing the information or changing my practice. Knight says that teachers find themselves in this zone when they do not see that they are not doing what was learned, or because they do not see the need to learn. This was the case for me with regards play-based learning. I was using play-based learning techniques but for the most part play occurred as a reward for the completion of other learning tasks such as worksheets or class crafts and fell into the free play category. I was not planning for learning to occur through play.

A second reason teachers end up in the Zero Learning Zone according to Knight (2018) is that they cannot see themselves being successful in implementing the strategy. I can relate to this a lot as when I started this journey I was looking for plans or for other teachers who were trying inquiry-based learning in their classrooms. I felt I needed to see someone succeeding before I could give it try. This barrier was very closely tied to fear, another factor that leaves teachers in the Zero Learning Zone. I was afraid that I might fail at implementing these practices or that students would fall behind in learning.

Eventually I decided to take one small step and try one new thing in my class. I took out the whole group literacy and numeracy lessons that happened during calendar or carpet time and replaced them with purposeful teacher planned learning centres where I worked with the students in small groups on the same skills, targeting lagging skills and address individual needs of all the students. The amount of growth in student learning that I observed from this one change led me to start trying out other ideas such as thinking circles. It was scary and I had to defend my choices to other teachers in the school and to my administrator, but when they saw the evidence of student growth through looking at the students' portfolios and my assessment documents all those who were pushing back stopped and accepted what I was doing as best practices for my students at that time.

That small success encouraged me to address other challenges I faced in my classroom. I continued to notice an increase or escalation in difficult to manage student behaviour. I saw the same issues arising and noticed that no matter what I tried a quarter of my class consistently were not meeting the academic expectations for kindergarten. Even though I tried every scripted program, and attended several workshops on literacy devepment, implemented several suggested strategies, a quarter of my students were not experiencing academic success. I knew it had to be something I was doing or not doing. There must be a reason why behaviours were escalating and academic achievement was staying stagnant. I could no longer blame the students' home environment, the amount of time students were spending in front of screens, or students' lack of

exposure. While all of these could definitely be contributing factors, I had no control over them. What I did have control over was what happened in my classroom. Tired of constantly managing behaviours and feeling more like a jail warden than a teacher, I decided I had to change. I had to trust my instincts, do some research and follow what my heart knew I needed to do. I needed to find the courage to teach.

Changing my program was a slow and lonely experience. It involved a lot of trial and error and time spent figuring out things on my own. It eventually led me to go back to University and focus on teaching and assessment practices and what was considered best practices in education. Through my studies and research I found answers that worked for me and my students. I decided to create the Empowered Kindergarten Classroom website (http://empoweredkclassrooms.weebly.com) for my collegues to share what I learned and what I am continuing to learn. I wanted to create something they could use parts of, or all of, to help them transform their programs. My hope is that through the website I can help teachers avoid some of the pitfalls that I fell into and give them sound arguments based on research to use when explaining the changes to their administrators, parents, and colleagues.

Using Knight's (2018) research as well as adult learning theory I created the Empowered Kindergarten website. On the website teachers are encouraged to participate in reflection activities to activate prior knowledge and experiences so as to find connections between this method of teaching and their current practices. Estes (2004) states, "our socialization causes us to see ourselves as more student-centred than we actually are" (p. 143). Often teachers think they are doing something but due to unclear definitions or examples they actually are not. Through examples and reflections teachers will be able to see where areas for growth are and help to eliminate blind spots. Goal setting both long term and short term are included on the website to

provide teachers with the feeling of autonomy and to feel successful when small goals are achieved. Teachers are also encouraged to keep documentation of their journey so that they can see personal growth as well as the growth of their students. Teachers are also encouraged to find a colleague, or to reach out to me to be a support person. Working together with a peer is a valuable resource for accountability and motivation.

#### The 6 Ps

The website I created and the critical inquiry approach it advocates are grounded in the work of Bailin and Battersby (2016), Bransford et al. (2000), Burke (2019), and Resnick (2018). It has a foundation in student-centred teaching practices as presented by Martin (2018) and Weimer (2013). Resnick (2018) talks about the four main ingredients to successful learning. He refers to them as the four "Ps": peers, passions, play, and projects. I have added a fifth 'P' to his ideas that addresses assessment. The fifth 'P' is portfolios. In a student-centered classroom students are active participants in their learning by engaging in purposeful peer interactions, actively constructing knowledge through purposeful play and purposeful projects. They learn through the use of critical inquiry projects based on personal interests or passions. Projects have a purpose whether it be to answer questions that students have or to address an issue or need in their learning community. Students are engaged in critical thinking activities, reflection, and selfassess through the use of purposefully designed portfolios. This brings us to a sixth 'P': purpose. Students do not play for the sake of playing. The play needs to serve a purpose. Projects are not glorified worksheets, rather they focus on a real problem or opportunity; they serve a purpose beyond the learning process. Portfolios are not filled with random works of art and assignments but are set up with a clear purpose in mind and the contents submitted are purposefully selected by teacher and student. Encircling all of the other Ps is purpose. I believe the 6 Ps are principles

that should be used to guide what learning opportunites are provided to students in kindergarten classrooms.

#### Rationale for the 6 Ps

The 6 Ps—purpose, projects, passions, play, peers, and portofolios—of kindergarten help students gain skills in critical and creative thinking, problem-solving, and communication and provide opportunities for adults to assess where students are at within those competencies. They also provide opportunities for students to self-assess. The 6 Ps are supported by learning theory and they also provide opportunities for students to develop self-regulation skills and develop executive functioning skills. They are also developmentally appropriate and are based within the natural dispositions of children.

#### **Purpose**

Using topics and activities that have a purpose beyond simply learning facts is supported by learning theory. Bransford et al. (2000) point out that "often there is only superficial coverage of facts before moving on to the next topic; there is little time to develop important organizing ideas" (p. 42). It is important that students understand the meaning behind what they are learning and how that learning relates to the world they live in. A common issue that I have seen with students in kindergarten is that as they begin to learn letters and numbers and they come across one they do not know students will often guess a number for a letter or a letter for a number. This shows that while they are memorizing the symbols they do not understand what those symbols mean or how they are used. The same thing happens when the students start exploring math facts. Many students are so excited to share with me that they know that five plus five is ten. When I give them a set of counters or manipulatives to show me what five plus five looks like or means they cannot. If I tell the students that I brought five Halloween candies in my lunch kit

and then I found five more candies on my desk and then I ask how many candies do I have? That same student has no idea. "Memorizing facts and formulas does not provide context or reasons for learning. When students solve a set of disconnected problems, they often end up with disconnected knowledge, without an understanding of why they were learning it or how to apply it to new situations" (Resnick, 2018, p. 53). Providing context and purpose to the learning students are engaged in solidifies the learning and leads to more transfer of learning. Bransford et al. (2000) state, "transfer is affected by the degree to which people learn with understanding, rather than merely memorizing sets of facts or following a fixed set of procedures" (p. 55). Learning that is tied to a purpose, to a reason is conditionalized which prevents it from becoming inert.

#### **Projects**

Students in primary grades need to be exposed to critical inquiry practices in order to develop the skill sets required in many fields of research. Many researchers have demonstrated the value of a critical inquiry approach in a range of teaching contexts (Bailin & Battersby 2016; Calder, 2015; Daniels, 2017). While young children may be a way from demonstrating sophisticated understandings in various academic disciplines, structuring learning around teacher-supported critical inquiry at this level builds a foundation of critical thinking and empowers students to see themselves as capable thinkers. Bransford et al. (2000) state, "although students scored very well on facts about history, they were largely unacquainted with models of inquiry, with real historical thinking. They had no way of making sense of the contradictory claims" (p. 42). Through the use of critical inquiry projects, students gain experience in skills such as historical thinking and develop a stronger understanding of foundational principles.

Bransford et al. (2000) also found that "younger students, taught by the inquiry-based approach,

had a better grasp of the fundamental principles of physics" (p. 12). Through carefully designed purposeful projects young children can begin to understand complex concepts and principles as well as gain experience in research methods in the humanities as well as in science. Critical inquiry projects are an essential component in the empowered early childhood classroom.

Through inquiry-based learning students apply all the thinking routines and skills they have been practicing during classroom meeting times. Johnson et al. (2016) state, "inquiry-based learning is established through student questioning and exploration of new knowledge for the purpose of integration with prior knowledge and skills" (p. 607). Calder (2015) builds on this description stating, "within inquiry learning an intention is for teachers to empower students to transition towards independently using their own strategies in authentic activity" (p. 1123). Authentic, real world problems or wonderings are the focus of critical inquiry projects.

The type of projects that are explored in the project section of the empowered kindergarten classrooms website are critical inquiry projects. These projects are based on the work done by Bailin and Battersby (2016). Critical inquiry projects have three main components: focus on an issue; careful examination of the issue from all sides; and, coming to a reasoned judgement. "The issue might involve some political controversy, an ethical decision, a scientific debate, or a decision or problem to be resolved" (Bailin & Battersby, 2016, p. 6). Some of the issues we have addressed in my own classroom include: the best pet for our classroom; whether we should wear our masks at school; what our school playground should include; and, how we can best help the homeless population of Lethbridge. In order to examine the issue from all sides, students are exposed to creating pro con lists, and creating context maps which help students learn to look beyond the surface of an issue to find more information about some of the complex

topics they hear or see in the news or in family conversations. These tools help students learn to look at issues from all sides.

After investigating the issue, students are invited to make their reasoned judgment. This requires students to understand and practice critical thinking skills and attitudes. Thinking routines often employed during critical inquiry projects help student develop lifelong learning skills. By activating prior knowledge and acknowledging wonderings teachers are able to more effectively help students grow in understanding. "A critical feature of effective teaching is that it elicits from students their pre-existing understandings of the subject matter to be taught and provides opportunities to build-on challenge their initials wonderings" (Bransford et al., 2000, p. 15). A key component of critical inquiry projects is the need to support a claim with evidence. Requiring students to provide evidence helps students come to understand where holes in their argument and understanding lie. Critical inquiry projects provide students with a framework to use as they try to better understand the complex world we live in.

#### **Passions**

Bransford et al. (2000) speak about the concept of an accomplished novice and the role it plays in learning. They state, "a model that assumes that experts have all the answers is very different from the model of accomplished novice, who is proud of his or her achievements and yet also realizes there is more to learn" (p. 50). The ability to see the limits in one's current understanding and knowledge and being able to then find ways to remedy the situation is key in the world of research. Thinking routines such as, "I used to think but now I think" (Ritchart & Church, 2020), are one way to develop this flexible thinking and deep understanding in students. In order to talk about what students used to think, they must be learning about an area where they

already know some information but have a desire to learn more, an area they are passionate about.

The use of student passions and interests to teach curricular content and skills not only develops flexible thinking but also improves motivation: "Students are motivated to spend the time needed to learn complex subjects and to solve problems they find interesting. Opportunities to use knowledge to create products and benefits for others are particularly motivating for students" (Bransford et al., 2000, p. 77). Motivation affects the amount of time students are willing to spend learning about something and it also affects the way students approach challenges they face while learning. Resnick (2018) states, "The only way they can persist and persevere through all the challenges is if they work on topics that they're truly passionate about" (p. 72). When learning tasks become challenging, interests and passions motivate students to keep going, to keep trying, to persevere. Completing this project is a perfect example of this concept in action. There is no way I would be motivated to put in the time, effort, and persistence needed to complete a project at this level if it was not in an area that I felt passionate about.

The use of passions in the classroom also affects transfer of learning. "When people work on projects that they are interested in, it seems pretty obvious that they'll be more motivated and willing to work longer and harder. Their passion and motivation make them more likely to connect with new ideas and develop new ways of thinking" (Resnick, 2018, p. 68). This idea is supported in the work of Bransford et al. (2000). They speak about the way in which experts are able to make connections between different problems and events that novices do not, and the importance this skill plays in the speed and effectiveness of approaching related problems and situations. The use of passions in the classroom allows students the opportunity to build on knowledge that they already have and to deepen their understanding on a topic.

Two approaches to using passions in the classroom are explored on the Empowered Kindergarten Classroom Website. The first looks at how play-based learning can use student passions to teach students literacy and numeracy skills. The second approach looks at the use of passion projects, what is often referred to in higher grades as genius hour, in the early childhood classroom. These passion projects are created using inquiry-based learning practices.

In inquiry-based learning students are engaged, empowered, and motivated in their learning through the use of their own passions and personal wonderings. Alberta Learning (2004) describes inquiry learning as, "a process where students are involved in their learning, formulate questions, investigate widely, and then build new understandings, meaning and knowledge" (p. 1). A key attribute from this description that separates inquiry-based learning from the traditional use of themes in early childhood practice is that students identify questions to guide their learning. In traditional teaching methods, the teacher often starts the class with a question that the students will be trying to answer and an exit slip is provided for students to share their answer on the way out of class. Helm and Katz (2016) state, "in these methods (units and themes) the focus is not on helping children pose questions to be answered or take initiative for investigations" (p. 2). In the empowered classroom the teacher frames the area of inquiry and the students generate the questions they wish to answer.

Inquiry-based learning nurtures and develops children's natural curiosity. This is a key attribute needed for creative and critical thinking (Daniels, 2017; Helm & Katz, 2016; Resnick, 2018). Curiosity is also a characteristic required to be a lifelong learner. Anderson, Comay and Chiarotto (2017) state, "inquiry stimulates and focuses students' curiosity leading to progressively deep questions and a habit of critical thinking. Inquiry builds life-long learning, skills that go beyond content mastery" (p. 14). By putting students' questions and wonderings at

the center of our teaching and empowering them with the skills necessary to form their own investigations and find answers to their questions, we are able to foster those attitudes and turn them into habits of mind for future use.

Passion projects are similar to critical inquiry projects in that they start off with an inquiry question. The difference is that they are not focused on an issue that students come to a reasoned judgement on. Rather passion projects are focused on asking a question and increasing one's knowledge about a topic and sharing what was learned with others.

## **Play**

We know that young children come to school with many experiences and understandings of the world around them. We know that they are not blank slates on which a story begins to be written when they enter the classroom or a "tabula rasa" as presented by John Locke. Through play, students explore their understandings and test theories that they have. Carefully observing and planning play activities helps us better understand where students are in their understanding and what next steps need to be taken. Keung and Cheung (2019) state, "play-based learning has been identified as a developmentally appropriate practice incorporating, elements of child-centred learning, open-ended inquiry and hands on experiences" (p. 627). Play helps to level the field of experience and exposure as well. It provides opportunities for students to engage with the world and materials in ways that help make sense of the information teachers share in more formal ways.

Play provides a non-threatening way for students to share their understandings as well. Taylor and Marienau (2016) speak about how when presented with a threat such as a test the human brain goes into a primal state of fight or flight in which learning does not occur and the ability to show what is understood is hindered. They state, "People in a state of heightened

anxiety, such as during tests or performance appraisals, are on brain overload" (p. 7). Play provides an opportunity for students to demonstrate their understandings in a minimal stressed environment. Under the 6 P framework play is seen as the learning opportunity as opposed to being a reward for completing work. Play is purposeful, scaffolded, and integrated.

Assessments are completed through play activities as well. When doing assessments on foundational knowledge of students in the fall traditionally I sat with students and went through a stack of alphabet cards and I recorded how many students knew. Typically the students may have known five letters. A couple of students would know all of the letters and of course several students knew no letters or the first letter of their names and the letter X. A couple of years ago when I started to change my practice I decided to reassess students. This time we played a game that the kids called witches' brew. I put a bunch of random "Halloween" objects into a cauldron (plastic eye balls, spiders, bats, fall leaves, snakes etc) as well as some magnetic letters. Students would stir the brew and then ladle out some into their bowl. Students would then sort what was in their bowl. Once it was all sorted we would try to name the letters that they had scooped out. I was amazed to find that students were more successful identifying the letters through this game than they had been the previous day when I assessed them using flash cards and a checklist. Intrigued by this finding I started adding note pads into dramatic play centers to see what would happen. The first day I joined the students at the house center and I pretended to be making a grocery list. The next day I begged to be a kid instead of a grown up because I always have to be the grown up. The students agreed. In their play this time, however, they did not create a grocery list. A student pretending to be a police officer showed up at the house center and used the notepad to record information about a theft that had occurred. What made this interesting was that the student who was playing the role of police officer had earlier in the day refused to

practice printing letters with his peers. Yet here he was practicing his letters willingly and engaging in meaningful, purposeful writing. Play within the 6 P framework is the students' work. It is part of their learning experiences. It is carefully planned, scaffolded, and assessed.

#### Peers

Learning with peers is motivating and a good reflection of how learning occurs outside of a classroom setting. Bransford et al. (2000) state, "teachers must attend to designing classroom activities and helping students organize their work in ways that promote the kind of intellectual camaraderie and the attitudes toward learning that build a sense of community" (p. 25). This camaraderie mirrors what thinking looks like outside of the classroom and how we as humans naturally tackle problems as we encounter them. Resnick (2018) states, "most thinking is done in connection with other people: we share ideas, get reactions from other people, build upon one another's ideas" (p. 91). Feeling like you are a part of something and belong is a basic human need. Providing learning opportunities for students to engage in learning from and with one another increases accountability for students and provides students with purpose.

It can be difficult to develop collaborative learning skills in young students. At this age children are typically quite egocentric and are still learning how to share, listen, and be a good member of a community. Students need to learn how to invite others to play, how to appropriately protest when things are not going the way they think they should, and how to combine ideas together to create a shared experience. An example of the need for this and how teaching peer interactions can be incorporated into curricular objectives and guided by other 6 P principles occurred this fall in my kindergarten classroom.

Outside on the playground students were engaging in parallel play around superhero play stories. There were several heroes and several villains in their play and they were all chasing and catching each other. At first glance it looked they were working together and engaged in a mutual play story but upon careful observation it became clear that each child was engaged in their own story and they were literally stumbling on others that they could include in their story. To help students learn to play together and to communicate with one another, we started talking about superheroes in class. We look at creating criteria for heroes versus villains (part of critical inquiry projects) and students began to create lists of things superheroes did and that villains did. They turned to comic books, television shows, and YouTube videos to learn more about superheros (part of passion projects). Students looked at comics together and through adult modelling learned how to talk about what they saw together and to build on what the previous person had talked about (peer interactions). Students came to realize there was a third party who was essential to superhero stories and that was the victim.

As we were learning about all of this in class the free play that occurred on the playground began to change. Small groups were starting to form and teams of villains and heroes started to ermerge. Students began purposefully finding one another and asking "are you good or evil?" In class, students began to create comic books about superheroes (literacy). Then not too long ago the most amazing thing happened on the playground. The whole class was engaged in a play story together and before I knew it there was a group of students pretending to be dead in a large group. When I asked one student who remained alive what had happened, she informed me she was a super villain and she had used her venom and poisoned all the people in the city. Her venom was very powerful but it took sixty four days before it killed someone so the police would never catch her. She paused for a moment and said "I have to go. Lava boy is coming. He is the only one that can stop me." Sure enough one of the young gentlemen in the class was running

towards her and she fled. I stopped and asked the young man what was happening and amazingly his story matched up completely with the story the young villain had just shared.

The learning transfered from the classroom to the playground but it came back into the classroom as well. Student were now working together at the building center to create one large structure instead of several small ones. Students were looking at books and talking about them together while at the classroom library as opposed to looking at books independently of one another (or building towers out of the books). Students at this age can learn to work together, play together and learn together if taught these skills and given the chance to practice them both with guidance and on their own.

# **Portfolios**

When assessing students our methods frequently measure their knowledge of facts but fail to measure the depth of understanding that students have or their ability to transfer knowledge and understandings to new situations. Bransford et al. (2000) state "feedback that signals progress in memorizing facts and formulas is different from feedback that signals the state of students' understanding" (p. 59). Our traditional methods of assessing do not accurately demonstrate students' learning and growth in the 21st century competencies as laid out by Alberta Education (2013). The use of digital portfolios as an assessment tool allows parents, students, and school staff to reflect on student thinking and skill development in the area of competencies beyond a final project or test: "Rather than trying to assess what children have learned by giving them an exam with right/wrong answers, we should work with children to document their projects, illustrating what they created, how they created it, and why" (Resnick, 2018, p. 152). The process of student learning can be documented and shared through the use of portfolios. The use of self-reflection tools, such as portfolios, better prepares students to transfer

learning: "Through reflection, people make connections among ideas, develop a deeper understanding of which strategies are the most productive, and become better prepared to transfer what they've learned to new situations in the future" (Resnick, 2018, p. 71).

Discussions around the contents of a portfolio can lead to transfer of learning as well as students playing an active role in deciding next steps for their learning. Portfolios provide an opportunity for students to develop metacognitive skills: "Teaching practices congruent with a metacognitive approach to learning include those that focus on sense making, self-assessment, and reflection on what worked and what needs improving" (Bransford et al., 2000, p.12). Portfolios provide an opportunity for students to look at submissions and reflect on what improvements they see from previous artefacts. Portfolio use also provides opportunities for students to express why they want a specific learning artefact included and what that artefact demonstrates. This provides more ownership of learning and allows students to practice metacognitive skills and develop an internal locus of control.

## **21st Century Competencies**

In 2013 the Minister of Education for Alberta, Jeff Johnson, signed a Ministerial Order on Student Learning for Alberta schools. The document defined the goals of education as creating engaged thinkers and ethical citizens who possess an entrepreneurial spirit. It also identified eight competencies that should be integrated into curriculum and fostered throughout students' schooling experiences. These competencies are: creativity and innovation, critical thinking, communication, managing information, collaboration, personal health and wellbeing, cultural and global citizenship, and problem solving, (Alberta Education, 2013). At the time there was not a lot of direction on how to teach or assess students' achievement of the competencies and there were few resources available for early childhood educators. At one point

I was even told by an administrator not to worry about it, as competencies were something for older students. This of course is not the case. Children in the early years of education can handle and should be given the opportunity to grow in all of the competencies. The 6 Ps of the empowered early childhood classroom as guiding principles for instructional design directly address these competencies.

## Play-based Learning and the Competencies

Play is a natural way for students to express creativity and demonstrate their innovative thinking practices. Feesha and Pyle (2016) state, "play-based approaches improve creativity and adaptability that leads to the type of innovative thinking needed in professions such as engineering, architecture, and mathematics" (p. 364). Play by its very nature calls for free thinking and creativity. Gini- Newman and Case (2015) state, "we belive creativity involves purposeful creation of ideas or products that are novel or unique, and have value or significance" (p. 5). When students engage in building activities at the block center they are involved in innovative and creative thinking. Activities such as building ski ramps out of blocks, paper towel rolls, and cardboard and then testing to see whose self constructed sled can go the farthest, provide students fun and low stress ways to make predictions, test their predictions, revise their thinking, and try again. Another great block activity that helps students develop innovative and creative thinking is having students build a bridge that crosses the block area and can hold up three toy billy goats. At the art center students exercise creativity and innovation by turning a pile of random supplies into a mask or a puppet for a retelling of Goldilocks and the Three Bears. At the loose parts center students use their innovative and creative thinking skills to create pictures out of random supplies such as buttons, screws, and bottle caps.

Play is a great way to develop critical thinking in students as well. Burke (2019) states, "Play is an inquiry process that consists of four ways of knowing: Exploration, testing, imitation, and construction" (p. 17). Students often engage in sorting activities during play. This is an ideal time to develop critical thinking skills, especially the ability to support a claim. A few days ago students in my class were busy sorting animals at the small world center based on their habitat. Students were arguing about where some animals should go (whales and seals are particularly great for causing disagreements). Students had to defend why they thought the animal belonged in a certain habitat and why it didn't belong in another one. The first student in this observation believed that the seal should be in the arctic habitat based on an image of a seal she had seen sitting on an iceberg and because polar bears eat seals and they live in the arctic. Another student engaged at the center aregued that the seal should be in the ocean habitat because it swam in the ocean and she had seen a picture of a seal on a rock and there was no snow around. At this point I intervened and suggested that we take a research break. The two students went to the technology corner and we started a search on seals to find out as much as we possibly could about them. In the end the students were able to come to a reasoned judgement and decided that the seal should go in the the arctic habitat because when looking at what criteria described an arctic animal versus an ocean animal they felt the seal belonged to the arctic. A large factor in this descision was that the seal spends some of its time on land and some of its time in the ocean.

Communication skills also develop through play as students interact with one another.

Language around specific topics grows, and vocabulary is built within a context which leads to a better understanding of the words and transfer to novel situations: "children achieve language and literacy skills at higher levels when they experience play scenerios and creativity in

nurturing environments." (Burke, 2019, p. 10). Play-based environments offer students a chance to take risks with language in a low-stakes setting.

Play also provides opportunities for students to engage in personal health and wellbeing activities. Play provides opportunities for students to engage in physical activity throughout the day and limits the amount of time students are confined to a chair or desk. It provides opportunities for students to connect with peers and develop positive social interaction skills. Play also provides opportunities for students to explore big issues or concerns that they have in nonthreatening ways. This past year my students struggled to understand COVID-19 and its impact on the world. In response to this my kindergarten students created a tag game outside. The premise of the game was that once you were tagged you became it and were always it. The game was over when everyone was it and the students called their game, "Corona tag." Play provides an opportunity for students to make sense of what was happening in the world around them.

#### Projects and the Competencies

Critical inquiry projects and passion projects provide opportunities for students to develop skills in all of the 21st century competencies such as managing information, problem solving, critical thinking, and collaboration. Stacey (2019) states, "just about any skill can arise and be developed within inquiry. There is opportunity for problem solving, collaboration, literacy, math, science, artistic expression, and so on, all at the child's own level" (p. 8). Critical inquiry projects can be used to meet curricular goals in all subject areas as well.

The use of critical inquiry projects provides students with experiences in critical and creative thinking. Resnick (2018) states, "if we want children to grow up as creative thinkers, we need to provide them with more opportunities to create their own projects and express their own

ideas" (p. 44). Through the use of thinking routines such as see-think-wonder, and I use to think but now I think (Ritchhart, 2015) and critical inquiry projects (Bailin & Battersby, 2016), students are given the opportunity to see the world around them in a new way. Students learn to notice and question what they see and hear. Calder (2015) states, "by using questions to trigger thinking, ignite inquiry, and establish dialogic relationships teachers can facilitate students' development of a range of thinking skills and enable them to become more independent learners" (p. 1123). Through noticing the world around them and asking questions, students are provided the opportunity to engage in creative problem-solving activities that have purpose and meaning.

Critical inquiry projects also provide students with the opportunity to develop a deeper understanding of what a democratic society is about. These projects provide an opportunity for students to engage in conversations and to experience strong feelings that arise when people have different points of view. Anderson, Comay, and Chiarotto state, "to sustain democratic and egalitarian discussions, especially among children just learning how to engage in this kind of talk, there is value in a format that reinforces their ongoing awareness of one another" (p. 14). To be active citizens who understand democratic society students need to be able to engage with and understand others who have opposing views and opinions, and to respect pluralism.

Critical inquiry projects help students develop flexible thinking as well as the ability to see problems and situations from a variety of viewpoints. Goodvid et al. (2019) state, "when kids think critically, they are analytical and reflective, and they entertain a variety of different perspectives" (p. 22). This skill is very important in the information age that we live in. It is very easy to find people who believe and agree with your ideas. Being able to listen to a variety of viewpoints and finding reliable sources that inform those viewpoints is essential to developing an understanding of the world in which we live. Students learn how to manage new information and

to evaluate that information in relation to current beliefs and understandings. They learn to evaluate the validity and merit of different sources of information.

Kindergarten students are not too young to begin developing skills related to the competency of global citizenship. Johnson et al. (2016) states, "developing a global mindset can begin in the early grades when young scholars are most curious and open to the world around them" (p. 608). Real world issues can be presented to students in kindergarten. The issues need to be presented at the students' level and in developmentally appropriate ways. One of the most successful inquiry projects I competed with my students was focused on the homeless population in our community. This project was a result of students seeing people digging in the school dumpsters and asking questions about what they saw. Through the use of a critical inquiry project that focused on how we can help the homeless population of Lethbridge, students were able to develop and demonstrate compassion for others in the community. They also demonstrated an understanding of what it means to be homeless in Canada as well as some reasons why there is homelessness in Canada and other countries around the world.

Critical inquiry projects and passion projects by nature help students build problem solving skills in a very natural and purposeful environment: "As students work together on projects, they learn not only webs of concepts, but also sets of strategies - strategies for making things, for solving problems, for communicating ideas" (Resnick, 2018, p. 54). Whether students are designing the world's greatest playground, exploring how dinosaurs became extinct, or finding a way to help the hungry in the community, they are engaged in purposeful problem solving.

Projects also provide students with the opportunity to develop their collaboration and communication skills. Anderson et al. (2017) state, "working with others to build understanding,

they learn the need to articulate ideas clearly, pose a focused question to clarify a point of view, and respect the diverse contributions of individuals within a collaborative community" (p. 14). Often critical inquiry projects do not start or end with a consensus on the answer to the inquiry question. Students learn to accept differing viewpoints and to question why people hold those views without judging the person. Bailin and Battersby (2016) speak of the importance of the spirit of inquiry. A spirit of inquiry requires "open-mindedness which involves being open to challenges to our arguments, counter evidence, and views which oppose our own" (p. 265). Through critical inquiry projects students learn how to respectfully explain their stance on an issue and respectfully question others.

# Motivation and Achievement Through the 6 Ps

The 6 Ps of the empowered kindergarten classroom also have foundations in motivational theories. Resnick (2018) states, "If your goal is to help people develop as creative thinkers and lifelong learners, then different strategies are needed. Rather than offering extrinsic rewards it's better to draw upon people's intrinsic motivation" (p. 75). When students are intrinsically motivated to learn they often outperform students who are encouraged to learn through the use of rewards and punishments. Montessori (1976) stated, "Rewards and punishments are the desk of the soul, that is, a means of enslaving a child's spirit, and better suited to provoke than to prevent deformities" (p. 13). Shalaby (2017) paints a picture of how the rewards and punishments often used in early childhood classrooms don't improve student motivation or achievement; rather they serve to further exclude and demotivate students.

Play is a low stress, high interest method of providing instruction: "When children are playing, they are intrinsically motivated, pleasurably involved and actively engaged; and these elements provide desirable optimal conditions for learning" (Pui-Wah & Stimpson, 2004,

p. 340). Introducing new concepts and skills in a playful, natural way throughout that day as need arises taps into students intrinsic motivation to learn and is thus more effective. Projects are also highly motivating learning activities, especially when student interests, passions, and a real purpose is used as the basis for the activity: "Honouring interests and questions related to a common focus or big idea leads to higher levels of engagement, improved understanding, and a love of learning" (Anderson et al., 2017, p. 14).

Closely related to motivation, engagement and achievement, the 6 Ps of the empowered early childhood classroom have a positive effect on students' ability to self-regulate. The 6 Ps help to develop executive functioning skills and important social skills required in school as well as life outside of school. Weisberg et al. (2013) state, "there is some evidence that children in programs using a playful pedagogical approach show better executive functioning skills, such as inhibitory control, working memory, and cognitive flexibility" (p. 106). Through the use of play, projects, and peers, students learn self-regulation and social skills out of a purposeful need: "Games and other forms of collaborative play are crucial for self-regulation: important concepts such as sharing, waiting one's turn. following directions, not being too rough, and controlling frustration" (Burke, 2019, p. 27). Through natural consequences and low stress mistakes, students learn valuable lessons on how not only to survive in a group setting, but learn to flourish.

When concepts and skills are taught purposefully using active learning methods with just in time instruction, students demonstrate higher achievement levels. Diamond, Grab, Reitze (2015) state, "when kindergarteners spend much time in drill-oriented instruction, they display stress behaviours, express less confidence in their abilities, and are less advanced in motor, academic, language, and social skills at the end of the year" (p. 22). This statement is supported

by the research of Burke (2019), Eronen and Kärnä (2017), and Helm and Katz (2016). Since designing my programming around the principles of the 6 Ps of empowerment I have noticed improvement in student scores on standardized tests. I have also noticed an improvement in students' ability to apply their understanding of letters and sounds to the reading and writing process. While this evidence is purely anecdotal in nature it affirms that the approach I have been developing using the 6 Ps as guiding principles is making a difference for students in my classroom. My hope is that the 6 Ps of the empowered early childhood classroom has lasting effects on students throughout their school years. Weisberg et al. (2013) contend, "Children participating in curricula that are based on principles of direct instruction show more inattention and stress behaviours, less self-confidence in their own abilities, and less end of the year progress in motor, language, and social skills when compared with peers in playful learning classrooms (p. 108). In my experience, students' academic, social, and personal skills are all positively affected by experiencing the 6 Ps of the empowered early childhood classroom.

There are gaps in the research around the efficacy of my 6 P approach to teaching in the early childhood classroom. While most of the research cited has focused on somewhat older children, I believe that the success of my students and the learning they are exhibiting as I have implemented and revised my approach affirms what I see as its value for early childhood education. This 6 P framework is unique in that it takes these guiding principles and applies it to the early childhood setting, and it combines all of these principles in a holistic approach to design for learning. The growth I have seen in my students' academic, social, and behavioural skills serves as testament to me that this framework has been successful in my context.

#### The 6 Ps of Empowerment Website

To address the barriers teachers experience when trying to implement play and critical inquiry-based early childhood programs, I created a website for kindergarten teachers to use as a resource for their personal learning journey. Hargreaves and Goodson (2006) state some of the barriers to chande in education include leadership changes in schools, teachers becoming wary after experiencing too many reforms or band wagons. To address these barriers the website that I created provides research behind the guiding principles and instructional approaches that teachers can use to explain what they are doing and why to school leaders who may not be overly familiar with early childhood settings. Where possible, I have also used common practices as the starting point to several learning opportunities shared on the website so that teachers see this is not something completely new and untested, but rather an extension of what they are already doing. It acknowledges that they have good programs already and these are small changes that they can make to their existing programs.

Cuban (1988) points to change in education being halted by teachers who do not always see the flaws in the system because the traditional form of school worked for them. They experienced success in it so others should too. One page of the website is dedicated to why I changed my programming and it focuses on how students have changed over the years, how we are seeing more students requiring behavioural supports as well as academic supports. It also addresses how the world these children are growing up in is very different than the world that many seasoned teachers grew up in.

Kelchtermans (2009) speaks about teacher vulnerability and the feeling of always being watched and judged or compared to other teachers as a reason why teachers may be reluctant to change their teaching methods. On the website, documents and successful learning opportunities

and projects are shared so teachers can feel less vulnerable and have ideas they can build upon. Planning documents and templates are shared as a framework for teachers to use to get the started. On the website I provide ideas, direction, and resources for teachers that are easily accessible and can support them as they take on the challenge of moving towards new ideas and teaching practices. The journey for me was hard and lonely and there was a lot of push back from administrators and other teachers along the way. Having someone to go to for advice and understanding would have helped me reach my goal of an empowered kindergarten classroom faster. When I found an ally in a leader at the divison board office who supported what I was doing, the journey became easier. I hope that by creating and sharing a website about empowered kindergartens, I can be that ally for others.

On the website I address issues connected with the Zero Learning Zone as described by Knight (2018). These issues include blindspots, or not knowing what we need to learn, not seeing the value in what is being learned or lacking hope that the changes will make a difference, and fear of faiure and embarrassment. It is also built based on key attributes of adult learners and self-directed learning as described by Merriam and Biereman (2014). I acknowledge the self-directedness of adult learners by encouraging teachers to explore whichever P interests them the most or addresses a need that they are most interested in. Autonomy and relatedness play an important role in teacher motivation to learn (in de Wal et al., 2014). I organized the sections of the website so that if I teacher chooses to engage with the whole site, each section builds upon the information in the previous section, however, the Empowered Early Childhood Classrooom website is designed so that teachers can explore any one of the 6 Ps that they are currently interested in or that relates most to where they are on their personal learning journey. Peer

interactions are the first principle on the website because positive peer interactions play a critical role in faciliting all of the other principles outlined in the 6 Ps.

On the website I include a theoretical component in the "why empowered learning" section. This section explains what empowered learning is and explains its historical and theoretical background. It then looks at why this is such a valuable approach to instruction design and how this approach develops 21st century competencies in students. Knight (2018) states, "we need to believe that what we are considering is worth the effort" (p. 22). This section of the website devoted to the "why" of empowered learning demonstrates the difference this approach has had in creating a more inclusive environment for my students, how it has decreased the frequency of tricky behaviors, and how it has made a positive impact on my students' academic achievement. An image is also provided to help educators visualize why the 6 Ps of empowerement are important and how they bridge the gap between curriculum and competencies.

The sections of the website that explain the six Ps and how they can guide instructional design are set up using the same organizational structure. The sections begin with a personal reflection for teachers to think about and record in their learning journal. The purpose behind the reflection is to activate previous knowledge and to tie future learning to previous experience. Kennedy (2016) states, "for teachers, enacting a new idea is not a matter of simple adoption but rather a matter of figuring out whether, when, and how to incorporate the new idea into an ongoing system of practice which is already satisfactory, and may be largely habitual" (p. 955). This opening reflection will help teachers connect the new learning to current practices and this will help teachers see that a few changes and modifications are all that is needed to implement the principles more effectively. Resnick (2018) states, "through reflection people make

connections among ideas, develop a deeper understanding of which strategies are most productive, and become better prepared to transfer what they've learned to new situations in the future"(p. 71). Through engaging teachers in reflective practices they experience what this will be like for students and discover its important role in creating life long learners.

The next component of each section involves looking at the physical set up of the classroom and ways the environment can be modified to accommodate the use of whichever P is being explored. The reason I chose to start the learning sections by looking at the physical environment is because changing the physical environment is often the easiest and least personally critical place to start. Hargreaves (1998) recommends, "keeping the level of distress within a tolerable range when you are adapting to the demands of a difficult problem" (p. 325). Throughout all the sections of the 6 Ps of Empowerment website, changes and strategies are introduced in small steps to gently push teachers out of their comfort zones and to encourage long term sustainable change. Changing the classroom environment is often the easiest place to start. I know from my own experience I often reorganize my classroom's physical environment prior to that start of each school year to accommodate different number of students and different physical and equipment needs of students (walkers, wheelchairs, etc). I change the bulletin board displays when I grow tired of looking at the same thing. I incorporate something exciting I have found on Pinterest, or a new piece of equipment purchased by central office (e.g., a new light table). Changing the classroom environment is as common as changing one's shoes for an early childhood educator.

After looking at physical environment considerations each section of the website addresses a common barrier teachers often have when implementing a new instructional approach. That barrier is being unfamiliar with terms or definitions, or misunderstanding what

the approach involves. Knight (2018) states that, "we often miss chances to learn because we do not see that we need to learn" (p. 22). Without a clear definition and understanding of what the approach involves teachers may not realize that they have gaps in their understandings. In play-based learning this often looks like teachers considering their practice as play-based because they use free play as a reward for completing worksheets or because they include flash card games as part of their programming. This is not what is meant by play in the 6 P framework.

Teachers often think they are engaging students in project-based learning but this often looks like students completing a project with the end result being that everyone's project turns out pretty much the same, or resulting in what I like to call a glorified worksheet. A great example of this is the culminating project at the end of a common All About Me unit of study. In the Alberta kindergarten program statement (2008) a key component in the social studies curriculum is looking at what makes us special and unique. It states, "The child demonstrates an understanding and appreciation of the multiple social, physical, cultural and linguistic factors that contribute to an individual's unique identity" (p. 19). This is a great topic to explore student interest and passions but it often results in an end of unit cookie cutter project where student create a Pinterest-inspired picture or model where deviations are minimal. I used to end this unit by having all of the students create a lovely plastercine picture of themselves using Barbara Reid's work as a model. While this is a great activity it also prevents students from expressing who they are in a truly individualized and unique way. Now students in my class are given the opportunity to share what they have learned about themselves through a variety of activities. They can now create a plasticine picture, a model, a poster, a collage, a book, or a video to share who they are with their peers, parents, and school community.

Critical inquiry projects are often misunderstood as well. Teachers engage their students in a project on a theme, but it often results in students doing a research project that misses key components such as weighing both sides of the argument, and understanding the role context plays when looking at an issue. Inquiry projects can be valuable learning activities but they do not address the same competencies as a critical inquiry project. Inquiry projects, or passion projects, and critical inquiry projects both play an important role in the 6 P framework and address different goals and needs of students. Critical inquiry projects focus on an issue, weighing facts and evidence, looking at all sides of an argument and coming to a reasoned decision. Inquiry, or passion projects, focus on research skills, finding answers to questions of personal importance, and developing a disposition towards life long learning. It's important for teachers to understand the appreciate the varying goals and approaches to these projects if they are going to make appropriate use of projects as a guiding principle in their planning.

To address the barrier of teacher misunderstanding, each principle is presented using the SEE-I tool for concept clarification: state, explain, example, image (Nosich, 2011). The section begins with a definition of what the principle is. I provide a clear definition from researchers in the respective fields. Following the definitions, I then give a deeper explanation of what the principle is and is not. Pictures and video samples are provided to help deepen the understanding of the terms as well. An image (metaphor or analogy) is then provided for teachers.

Following the SEE-I explanations of the principle, I address the planning barrier that teachers often face. When I started on this journey I wasn't sure how to put my plans and ideas onto paper. The traditional lesson and unit plan formats simply did not work. After presenting at Alberta Teachers' Conventions the most common request I received was "can I see your plans." To address this barrier I have created sample planning documents for teachers to use. These

documents include a blank version for teachers to use as well as a completed planning document for teachers to look at as a model.

Following the planning documents a warning section is then presented to share some common mistakes or traps that happened when I first attempted to implement the principle in my practice. This is included to help teachers avoid some of the mistakes I made on the journey and to let them know it is okay if things don't go well the first or second time you attempt something. There is value in learning from our mistakes. Kelchtermans (1996) states, "acknowledging and understanding one's own career story, especially in the company of others, is one step toward effective coping with uncertainties. It provides a perspective from which to move beyond the stressful threat of vulnerability" (p. 321). By acknowledging and sharing my own experiences, struggles and vulnerabilities I hope to help other teachers move beyond fear of failure.

Finally each section ends with a goal setting activity. This activity will engage teachers in setting a mini-goal to accomplish. Knight (2017) states, "well-crafted goals can provide guideposts that nudge you out of your comfort zone" (p. 24). This activity engages teachers in planning how they will achieve their goal and explaining why the goal is important for student learning. Designing and explaining the plan is crucial to successful implementation. Knight (2017) states, "design thinking reduces the stress and anxiety of attempting change without a framework" (p. 24). The website is set up to lead teachers through small incremental changes instead of large, overwhelming, and often unsustainable change. The goal setting section provides teachers with valuable experience in goal setting which in turn will help them be better prepared to lead students through this process in the classroom.

#### Peers

This section of the website explores different ways teachers can encourage peer collaboration. The goal of this section is to provide strategies and practices to encourage peer collaboration, that over time require less teacher intervention in order to free the teacher to work with students on passion projects, and scaffolded play opportunities. The Peer webpage on the 6 Ps of Empowerment website addresses four ways to include peer learning in the classroom. It looks at how the classroom environment is set up, strategies to foster communication between peers, communication restoration, and peer assessment. Weitzman and Greenberg (2002) state, "as adults, when we engage in social interactions, we constantly analyze the situation, decide what kind of behaviour is appropriate to that situation, and make necessary adjustments as the conversation continues" (p. 192). These skills take time to develop and require practice. In order to learn with peers, students at the early childhood level need to first learn how to use language to communicate effectively.

In this section I share several strategies from the Hanen speech language training that most kindergarten teachers in Lethbridge School Division 51 participate in (Weitzman & Greenberg, 2002). I chose to include these strategies to reinforce and acknowledge learning that has already occurred. Merriam and Bierema (2014) state, "a facilitator can begin with an adult's experiences and then assist the learner to connect those experiences with new concepts" (p. 51). Including this information will help activate teachers' prior knowledge and connect it to the ideas presented in this section of the website.

Weitzman and Greenberg (2002) state, "through peer interactions students learn to make compromises, to resolve conflicts, and to share, collaborate, and cooperate with others. They also learn how to negotiate and assert themselves" (p. 185). In order to engage in critical inquiry

projects and meaningful classroom discussions around world issues, students first need to develop interpersonal skills and communication skills.

Learning how to have effective peer interactions is also fundamental to play-based learning strategies. To communicate effectively with peers Weitzman and Greenberg (2002) state, "children have to be able to initiate interactions, respond when others initiate interaction, send clear messages, continue a conversation, clear up misunderstandings, and stick to the subject" (p. 185). Through play many of these communication skills can be practiced and developed. Play-based learning also provides opportunities to notice learning gaps in these skills. A student who is unsure of how to initiate conversation often struggles to initiate play as well. This student is often the one who tries to engage in play at the sand table by dumping a bucket of sand on another student's head, or who joins in at the block center by kicking over someone else's tower. Students who struggle to initiate conversation or play may not always be that noticeable. Sometimes these are the students who always choose to explore independently at the Lego table or art table where engaging in parallel play is more acceptable. Students who struggle with peer interactions often seek out adults to engage with and often prefer to explore at an adult directed learning center. On the Peer webpage, ways to empower students to communicate independently with peers are explored.

The physical layout of a classroom plays a key role in fostering peer interactions. The Peer webpage on the website presents several things that should be considered when setting up an early childhood classroom in order to foster purposeful peer interactions. These environmental considerations were based on the research conducted by Shipley (2013) and Weitzman and Greenberg (2002).

The Peer webpage also addresses teacher interventions that can help support students who are struggling with positive peer interactions. Wurm (2005) states, "the environment should support the work and interests of children without constant adult guidance and intervention" (p. 40). Classroom components such as language support visuals and a peace table for conflict resolution help students navigate peer interactions without constant adult intervention.

Language delays often prevent students from being able to have positive peer interactions. Children with language delays spend far more time interacting with adults, particularly the paraprofessional assigned to the student than in peer interactions (Chung, Carter & Sisco, 2012). When developing accommodations and interventions to be used in the classroom setting it is important to consider the other students in the classroom and ways that the adaptation enhances or hinders interactions with typically developing peers. Chung, Carter, and Sisco (2012) state, "research suggests that students' peer interaction experiences are strongly associated with positive academic, behavioral, emotional, and social outcomes" (p. 349). If students with communication delays are not engaged in activities with their peers and the majority of interactions occur only with adults, students are less likely to achieve communication goals.

The communication devices designed for the different learning centers are shared on the website. These devices take into account students who struggle with language either because of a developmental delay or limited exposure to the English language. For example, the visual for the art center assists the students in requesting different materials that might be needed without grabbing objects out of a peer's hand and it also allows students to offer different materials to peers. The visual for the block centre provides vocabulary about what students may want to build together. This visual communication device helps to remove language as a barrier to cooperative

play and promotes positive peer interactions. The goal of these tools is to increase the amount of time students engage with each other in activities without adult intervention thus increasing independence within the classroom.

The use of a peace table is one way to help students learn what to do when communication breaks down. Weitzman and Greenberg (2002) state, when interaction with a peer goes wrong as a result of a conflict, a lack of interest, or a misunderstanding, children have to know how to get things back on track. This is called repairing a breakdown in communication" (p. 184). The peace table not only fosters the development of peer communication skills it also allows students to practice problem solving skills in a purposeful manner. Going to the peace table to resolve a conflict should not be seen as punitive but rather celebrated. At the peace table I like to include a visual of the steps that students can take to resolve the conflict. This reinforces an essential component of critical inquiry learning and provides an opportunity for students to demonstrate learning transfer. Through the use of a peace table students are able to demonstrate skill levels related to Alberta Kindergarten Program Statement (2008) outcomes such as this outcome from the Social Studies curriculum; "demonstrates the skills of cooperation, conflict resolution and consensus building" (p. 24). The use of a peace table allows students to achieve success in outcomes from the personal and social responsibility curriculum such as: "begins to develop respectful communication skills appropriate to context, identifies causes of conflict in school or in play, and suggests simple ways to resolve conflict" (p. 30).

The final portion of the Peer webpage on the 6 Ps of Empowerment website looks at using peer assessment as another means of encouraging purposeful peer interactions. Topping (2013) states, "there are immediate benefits of peer assessment for learning and achievement but

also longer-term benefits with respect to transferable skills in communication and collaboration" (p. 395). Peer assessment also helps students develop a stronger understanding of learning outcomes and classroom expectations. In order for peer assessments to be a successful tool in learning a few factors need to be addressed. Berger, Rugen, and Woodfin (2014) state, "Peer to peer feedback can be effective when the conditions are right, when students are practiced in giving targeted feedback, and they have clarity on the specific dimension of the work they are analyzing" (p. 166). First students need to understand how to give effective feedback and how to receive feedback. Then they need to have a firm understanding of the criteria on which they are giving feedback.

The Peer webpage addresses the first component by encouraging teachers to use modelling techniques both for how to provide feedback and to receive feedback. Topping (2013) states, "it is important that the recipient of feedback is ready to respond to it thoughtfully, deciding what points to accept and what not to accept" (p. 395). Puppet shows and role plays of different ways to give and receive feedback prior to using peer assessment are methods to demonstrate this to young students in a fun and developmentally appropriate manner.

The second factor required for peer assessment to be effective is that students need to have a strong understanding of the criteria being assessed. Bourke (2015) noted, "it is important to include the involvement of students in identifying standards and/or criteria to apply to their work and making judgements about the extent to which they have met these criteria and standards" (p. 107). For young children I have found that to be effective evaluators of their own and others work, students need to have examples of good, better, and best to compare work to. Providing samples for students to compare to and refer back to helps them assess their own work and their peers' more effectively. Topping (2013) states, "reliability is increased by making

model student work available to the assessors" (p. 396). Having clear criteria that is understood by the students is essential to the students being able to use the assessment tool effectively.

To address these ideas I explain two methods of peer assessment that I have successfully implemented in my own classroom. The first is co-created rubrics. Creating rubrics with the students helps develop a deeper understanding of the criteria and standards with the students. Four samples of co-created rubrics are shared on the website to illustrate that at this level peer assessment does not need to be an elaborate or difficult process. The second example of modeling for peer and self-assessment is the use of a writing continuum for students to compare writing samples to.

The warning portion of the peer section on the website focuses on common pitfalls of peer assessment. It specifically addresses the fact that at first students are not effective peer assessors and they require time and practice to become proficient at it. Topping (2013) states "students feel uncomfortable criticizing one another's work initially" (p. 407). This section warns teachers that the first few times they attempt this with students will likely be unsuccessful. Perseverance will pay off in the end. The first time I tried to co-create a rubric with students was a complete disaster. I had read the research and several papers on how to do this. However, I did not take into consideration the skill level of the students and their ability to understand what good, better, and best even meant. I waited for the students to describe for me what a good picture included and when I was greeted by the sounds of crickets, a first ever occurrence for me in a kindergarten classroom, I knew I missed a step. I gave them the rubric to assess their own drawings. It included the use of emotional faces (happy, neutral, and sad). I am sure you have guessed how this turned out. All the students choose the happy face. When I asked why the happy face, they responded with a version of because "happy is right." Instead of giving up and

believing this was something kindergarten students just weren't capable of, I paused, reflected, and thought about first steps and tried again.

I discovered that by providing students with visual examples of what a good drawing looked liked, what a better drawing looked like, and finally what my best drawing looked like students began to understand the concept. Together we chose images that made sense to them for good, better, and best on our rubric as that had more meaning to them than the numbers 1, 2, 3. I then talked with them about what made each drawing better and we created the criteria and standards based on what they noticed with me adding in key elements that may have been missed. After tackling something concrete like drawing a picture I then moved to creating a speaking rubric with the students for sharing time activities. For this one, I provided the descriptors for each level of achievement and the students chose animals that they thought matched. The moose was chosen as the "just right" animal in the rubric because at the time we had a giant 6 foot tall stuffed moose in our class, named Bruce, who the students adored.

This warning will hopefully keep teachers going and prevent them from throwing the strategy away if it does not work at first. It also explains how important it is to start small. At the start of the year all I have students do when co-creating the rubrics is brainstorm images that could be used for each level of achievement. Eventually through time and practice students become able to describe verbally and provide examples of the levels for the rubrics. This warning section along with the goal setting activity that follows are part of the agenda to move teachers out of the Zero Learning Zone by having teachers engage in design thinking (Knight, 2018, p. 24). Teachers are encouraged to base success on small steps rather than the larger end goal.

## **Projects**

The goal for this section of the website is to introduce teachers to critical inquiry projects. This is an instructional tool that many teachers are unfamiliar with. By providing step by step instructions, visuals from previous projects, and planning documents I hope teachers will find this strategy less intimidating and accessible to children at the kindergarten level. I hope that the materials shared will demonstrate that critical thinking is not out of reach for children at this young age.

The classroom environment portion of the Project webpage looks at a few minor physical elements that should be considered when planning to include critical inquiry projects in an early childhood classroom. Small changes such as providing wall space to display research and records of class discussions is advantageous but not essential. A gathering space where students can sit in a circle and face one another is advantageous as well.

The emotional and intellectual environment are very important when engaging in a critical inquiry project. It is important the classroom environment is one that fosters the spirit of inquiry. The spirit of inquiry can be described as "open-mindedness, fair-mindedness, curiosity, concern for the truth and accuracy, admiration for human intellectual achievements, willingness to follow arguments and reasoned judgments wherever they lead, desire to act on the basis of reason, and acceptance of uncertainty" (Bailin & Battersby, 2016, p. 21). To foster this spirit of inquiry in the classroom prior to engaging in a critical inquiry project I use several of the thinking routines as laid out in the work of Ritchhart and Church (2020). These routines are shared with teachers through a chart describing several routines and how they can be modified to meet the developmental skills of kindergarten students as well as suit potential activities is

included on the website. A video is also shared of students engaging in a See-Think-Wonder and What Makes You Say That activity,

Critical inquiry is defined by Bailin and Battersby (2016) as "the process of carefully examining an issue in order to come to a reasoned judgment" (p. 6). A critical inquiry project differs from a more traditional classroom project in that it includes five key guiding questions. These guiding questions according to Bailin and Battersby (2016) are "What is the issue? What kinds of claims or judgments are at the issue? What are the reasons and arguments on various sides of the issue? What is the context of the issue? How do we comparatively evaluate the various reasons and arguments to reach a reasoned judgment?" (p. 26). All of these questions are very important to the process and in the warning section of the website teachers are cautioned about skipping any one of these questions. I recently had the experience of talking with a teacher who used my critical inquiry unit, "What is the best classroom pet for us." Without reading the whole plan prior to starting the unit, she jumped in at the research section and had students research an animal they would like as a pet. Unfortunately, by skipping over several pieces the project became an animal research project and while students gained skills in research and literacy, they did not gain experience in the process of critical inquiry. In the end the students voted on a classroom pet based on favourite animals and consensus was not reached. The decision was not based on a reasoned judgment but rather based on students' personal preference regardless of the context.

The first step for engaging in a critical inquiry project is choosing the topic or issue. Choosing a focus is very important. Bailin and Battersby (2016) state, "it is important to limit the scope of the issue by focusing on a specific aspect or aspects which are of particular relevance to the task and are of particular interest to the person conducting the inquiry" (p. 164). If the topic

or issue is too broad or the question is too vague the critical inquiry runs the risk of being too superficial. If the students are not interested in or do not see the relevance or purpose behind the inquiry question students will not be as engaged or invested in the problem. Alberta Learning (2004) warns that "they may think that inquiry is finding the answer to other people's questions for the satisfaction of their teacher, rather than understanding inquiry as a process of being puzzled about something, generating their own questions and using information to satisfy their own interests and to develop their own knowledge" (p. 8). By choosing a question that is important to students we help them transfer the critical inquiry process to activities and learning outside of the classroom. The topic or issue also needs to have an element of controversy, where the final reasoned judgment is not known prior to starting the critical inquiry process.

The second step of a critical inquiry project is to carefully examine the issue from all sides. This involves mapping the context and developing an understanding of all sides of the argument. Context mapping is a very important step. It is how students come to understand the issue more deeply. Bailin and Battersby (2016) explain, "It enables us to get the big picture of the issue and the factors and forces surrounding it" (p. 189). Through mapping the context students learn about the history of the debate, what current popular opinion is, and how society plays a role in those opinions. During this phase of a critical inquiry project students develop a deeper understanding of the perspectives others have held. Bailin and Battersby (2016) state "students need to know what the arguments are on the various sides of the issue, what are the objections to, and criticisms of the various arguments, what responses have been put forth to these objections and criticisms, and which views are currently dominant" (p. 193). Before forming our own arguments and positions on an issue it is important to explore arguments on all sides fully.

The third step to a critical inquiry project is reaching a reasoned judgment. After exploring historical and current factors surrounding the issues, students engage in creating their own pro/con lists about the issue based on their own contexts and lived experiences as well as what was learned during the context mapping phase. Bailin and Battersby (2016) state, "we need to perform a comparative evaluation of the arguments in order to determine their weight in terms of the overall case and then combine the various evaluations in order to make a final judgment" (p. 236). Students look at their own arguments and discuss and debate the merits of those arguments and come to a reasoned judgment of their own about the issue. It is important to note that all the students may not come to the same conclusion at the end of the project. If the critical inquiry process was honoured then students will respect each other's opposing views. One of my favourite thinking routines to do at the end of a critical inquiry project is a video reflection with the students using the sentence starter "I used to think... now I think..." (Ritchhart, Church, Morrison, 2011, p. 154).

I have added a fourth step to the critical inquiry project process and that is a call to action. To add more purpose into critical inquiry projects it is important for students to do something with the information that they have learned. In the past students have created public service announcements to share with the school during morning announcements, created posters to hang up at the school and around the community to increase awareness about an issue, or in the case of my favourite project "what is the best pet for our class," developed a financial plan and raised the money to purchase the pet of their choice. Sharing what was learned with an authentic audience is an important piece in providing purpose to the project. It is also a great way to engage the community in the learning happening within the classroom.

In the warning section for critical inquiry projects I focus on the importance of choosing a topic that the students are interested in. Finding the right topic involves listening and observing carefully while students are engaged in play and conversations with each other. More than once I have chosen I topic that I thought the students would like but in the end it fizzled out after a week. Paley (2004) states, "I rarely paused to listen to the narratives blooming everywhere in the garden of children in which I spent my days. I saw myself as the bestower of place and belonging, of custom and curriculum, too often ignoring the delicate web being constructed by the children in their constant exchange of ideas the moment I stopped talking and they resumed playing" (p. 19). It was not until I listened carefully to the students and began asking them question about what was going on in their lives that I was able to successfully implement critical inquiry projects in my own classroom.

## **Play**

This section of the website focuses on purposeful play activities and on ways to use play as a learning tool as opposed to a reward for completing learning tasks. Research shows that it is not uncommon for teachers today to believe in play but to not incorporate it into their early childhood programs. Resnick (2018) states, "in many kindergartens today there is more focus on delivering early-literacy instruction and less time for playful exploration. Some people have referred to today's kindergartens as literacy bootcamps (p. 9). The research suggests three main reasons why this is occurring. The first is academic pressure and the need to be successful on standardized tests. Pyle et al. (2018) state, "movements toward prescribed academic standards and accountability in education have resulted in an increase in formal literacy expectations at the kindergarten level" (p. 220). Going along with the move to more standardized assessment is the move to use more scripted and prescribed programs in early childhood classrooms. Barblett et al.

(2016) found that, "teachers have identified the tensions between play- based learning and the move towards published programs and scripted teaching" (p. 37). There is a growing body of evidence however that shows students engaged in play-based learning score higher on standardized tests than those who learned in traditional classrooms where the majority of learning took place through direct instruction (Burke, 2019; Kemple, 2017; Pyle et al., 2018; Resnick, 2017).

To address the concern over academic growth in play based programming, the Play webpage on the 6 Ps of Empowerment website provides teachers with examples of how literacy and numeracy skills can be developed through play. Examples are provided of students engaged in literacy activities at the sensory centers, building centers, dramatic play centers, and the small world center. The pictures shared were carefully selected to demonstrate that literacy and numeracy skills can be built in ways beyond worksheets and flash cards.

In addition to helping teachers understand how they can help students develop important academic skills through play, one important goal of this section of the website is to help teachers understand how the different types of play can be used most appropriately for the early childhood classroom within the context of the 6 P framework. To achieve this goal clear definitions of the five different types of play are explored along with ways to incorporate these types of play purposefully in the kindergarten classroom.

A barrier teachers are faced with when trying to implement play-based learning is an unclear definition of what play is and confusion around free play versus guided or scaffolded play. Feesha and Pyle (2016) state, "the current lack of consistency in definitions of play-based learning is a major concern given that the implementation of play-based learning is dependent on the knowledge and understanding of the teachers" (p. 372). If teachers are unclear about what

play-based learning looks like and what their role is within it, they will not incorporate play-based learning into their programs. This lack of understanding and unclear definition is a problem that reaches beyond the classroom teachers. Teachers experience pressure from administrators, other teachers, and parents who have an unclear or even an incorrect understanding of what play-based learning means. Barblett et al. (2016) state, "participants spoke of being directed by principals to teach in ways that clashed with their philosophical beliefs and did not allow for play-based learning" (p. 40). If teachers are going to implement play-based learning, they need to be able to define and defend it clearly and accurately. To address this barrier the 6 Ps of empowerment website explains the five types of play: functional play, constructive play, symbolic or dramatic play, rough and tumble play, and games with rules (Burke, 2019). There are grey areas within these play categories and play can cross over between two categories for example, a game of cops and robbers on the playground may include predetermined rules, dramatic play as well as some rough and tumble play.

It is important that all types of play are addressed in the kindergarten classroom in a purposeful and intentional manner. If teachers use only free play or games with rules, they are missing out on several learning opportunities for their students and on opportunities to assess where students' strengths and gaps in learning may occur. If I had not permitted the students to engage in the rough and tumble superhero play discussed earlier, I may not have noticed that they were engaging in parallel play or that they were missing an understanding of how characters interacted in stories. I would have missed an opportunity to teach them about story elements in a manner that was meaningful and pertinent to their current intererests.

Another barrier to play identified in the research is that many teachers are confused about what their role is within play and that play and teaching are two separate often dichotomous

constructs. Resnick (2018) states, "good teaching involves playing a variety of roles, all in the service of helping others learn. Good teachers and good mentors move fluidly among the roles of catalyst, consultant, connectors, and collaborators" (p. 112). The problem is many teachers do not know what these different roles are, or when to step into the different roles, or when to step out and be an observer. This often results in a common play phenomenon that Edwards (2017) refers to as "teacher missing in action" (p. 4). If the teacher is not actively engaging in play with the students it is very difficult to scaffold the learning within the play or to provide just in time instruction or opportunites.

On the Play webpage, I address the barrier of insufficient training in how to plan for play and what the teacher's role is during play activities. Pyle and Danniels (2017) found that "the perceived inability to plan led teachers to question the integration of play-based pedagogy, not because they didn't value play but because they struggled to negotiate a balance between the child-directed play they felt was essential and the mandated academic standards" (p. 280).

Teachers are unsure of what their role is during play and how to use play as a learning tool. They do not know how to find the middle ground of learning with students in naturally occurring play, and how to plan play centres with an academic focus that continues to feel like play. Pyle and Danniels (2017) define five different roles that teachers can have in play-based programing. These five levels of teacher involvement are free play, inquiry play, collaborative play, playful learning, and learning through play.

In free play children direct their own play narratives and determine the resources used. In inquiry play the locus of control is still mainly with the child. The child initiates play and the teacher extends the play to incorporate academic standards. An example of this was a time when students in my classroom were creating and throwing paper airplanes at the art center. In

response to this observation I chose to bring in books about airplanes and on how to build paper airplanes. After a few days of students attempting to build different types of airplanes I introduced students to measurement by setting up a runway in the hall with a measuring tape and some nonstandard units of measurement such as snap cubes, chain links, and shoes so students could see whose plane has flown the farthest. Free play serves a purpose within the 6 P framework. It provides an engaging activity for teachers to introduce new concepts and skills to students. It is the first step in instructional strategies based on student passions and meeting children where there at and building on from there.

In collaborative play the teacher has a larger role in the planning of the play activity. This planning comes from watching student play and noticing student interest. An example of collaborative play would be the teacher setting up a pet store or a vet clinic after observing students pretending to be animals during free play activities. The teacher and students brainstorm what items should be included in the play centre and co-create the space.

Playful learning is more teacher-directed than student-directed. It is a way to engage students in activities to build skills that students need to learn but do not always present themselves through student-directed play. In this form of play the teacher creates materials and assigns roles or purpose. An example would be the use of a flower shop at the dramatic play centre. The teacher creates order forms, sets up a cash register, provides money, provides different types of flowers and decorations for arrangements. Students choose from prescribed roles (shop keeper, floral arranger, customer). Learning through play is the most prescriptive type of play. It often involves flash card games for letter and number recognition or file folder games (Pyle & Danniels, 2017).

To help teachers address the barrier of how to plan for play, a planning for play guide is shared on the Play webpage. The planning guide includes the five levels of teacher involvement (Pyle & Danniels, 2017) as well as the five types of play (Burke, 2019). On the website I encourage teachers to fill in the planning for play document with activities they are currently using in their own classroom. This is an opportunity for teachers to reflect on practices already happening in thier classrooms and by placing those activities into the planning document, teachers will see that they are already incorporating several typs of play. Knight (2018) states "we are resistant to any experience that causes us to re-evaluate what we think to be true about ourselves" (p. 23). On the webpage I have attempted to take a supportive approach by affirming what teachers are already doing and then showing what the next steps are for teachers are.

In the warning portion of the Play webpage on the Empowered Early Childhood

Classroom website teachers are reminded to ensure that curricular goals are included in their

planning. In the classroom students are engaged in play for the purpose of learning. Including the

curricular outcomes in the planning for play document will help teachers remain focused on

purposeful play. Including curricular objectives in planning documents also provides a means for

teachers to demonstrate to administrators and parents how students are meeting curricular

expectations and not just engaged in play for the sake of playing.

### **Passions**

The purpose for this section of the website is to provide two simple ways student passions can be used as a guiding principle in planning for instruction in a kindergarten classroom. I also show teachers that in spite of common beliefs around the capabilities of students this age, they are able to participate in personal inquiry projects. On the Passions page of the 6 Ps of Empowerment website I explore two ways of using student passions to foster

learning. The first method I present is the use of passion projects, sometimes these projects are referred to as personal inquiry projects or genius hour. This is followed by a section that reinforces how play-based learning centres can incorporate passions to help students develop knowledge and skills. Student passions, much like purpose and peers, filters into all areas of the empowered classroom. It is an important piece of critical inquiry projects for without passion about the topic the students will disengage from the project. Without passion student portfolios become a teacher driven document as opposed to a student empowered demonstration of learning.

This webpage begins by looking at classroom environment and set up. It recommends including student passions in the classroom library. Including books about a variety of student interests helps engage students in interacting with books as opposed to more traditional methods where books were selected for the classroom library based on a teacher driven theme. Including a variety of informational books related to science and social studies is also crucial to building students' literacy skills. Samarapungavan et al. (2011) state, "use of shared reading activities in the course of children's investigations provides opportunities for children to engage with the language of science as they ask questions and explore" (p. 421). There are very few barriers for teachers to implement this strategy as books can be borrowed from the school library or the city public library making it a cost-effective strategy to include.

Finding students' passions can be quite easy and it doesn't take a lot of time or effort. On the Passions webpage I share some quick and easy ways to figure out what students are interested in and passionate about. One of the easiest ways to discover students' passions is by listening and documentating during play-based learning and morning conversations. Often times during morning meetings, sharing circles, or informal conversations through out the day students

share their passions with their teachers. I like to keep an observation sheet with me at all times and when I finish having a conversation with a student I quickly jot down what we talked about. For example, one year I had a student who every day when he got to school told me about something his dog had done the night before. Clearly this young man was very fond of his dog. For his first passion project of the year he created a slide show presentation all about his dog.

Another tool I like to use to discover students' interests and passions is to go on I wonder walks. I wonder walks are a great way to incorportate the outside environment into learning. In a wonder walk students go for a walk through the community, around the school, or even on a field trip. As they walk around, students stop and share what is it that they are seeing and what they are wondering. Not too long ago I took my students to a nature reserve close to our school. As they were walking around students stopped and pointed out nests that they saw and then began to wonder what nests were made of, if different birds build nests differently or were all nests built the same, and how the birds know how to build nests. These questions led to several students completing an inquiry project about bird habitats.

A third method I use to help students choose topics for their passion projects is to create an I wonder wall (Daniels, 2017, p. 44) or an idea board. Samarapungavan et al. (2011) state "idea boards were used by teachers to record ideas that children generate in class discussions and to help children revisit their ideas over the course of an inquiry" (p. 420). For both the I wonder wall and the idea board I simple ask the students what they saw or did the night before or over the weekend. Then I ask what wonderings or questions they have about what happened. This, of course, takes practice and no question or wondering is ever negated. All ideas are added to the wall. Some wonderings from the start of the year often include questions about how to get to the next level in a video game or why something is the colour that it is. By the end of the year with

repeated practice and exposure, students' questions become bigger and more profound such as how do engines work, how was the first person made, or how can you tell how old a lady bug is. I keep an I wonder wall up in my room for the whole year and any time a student has a wondering we add it to the wall. If a student is struggling to think of an idea to explore we often visit the I wonder wall to see if there is a question there of interest. Often by reading some of the questions on the board students find a new or related question. Sometimes a student will even choose to research a question that someone else asked.

On the Passions webpage, I share pictures of two different ways that I have set up a classroom I wonder board to provide a model and to show how simple this is. One image is of student silhouettes with pictures that students cut out of magazine to show topics they were interested in or images that caught their attention. The second image is of a very simple I wonder board where on sentence strips student questions are written and posted. As answers are discovered to the questions the information is included beneath the original question along with new and emerging questions.

The use of an I wonder wall is important because personal inquiry projects are based on student questions and wonderings. Students require practice in understanding what a question or wondering is and how it differs from a statement. The use of an I wonder wall throughout the year allows students to develop this skill together before attempting it independently. Calder (2015) states, "within inquiry learning an intention is for teachers to empower students to transition towards independently using their own strategies in authentic activity" (p. 1123). Through the use of wonder walls students practice literacy skills and communication skills they have been developing while learning how to question what they see, hear, and read.

The Passions webpage also explains how to implement personal inquiry projects. While many early childhood teachers state that they see the value of inquiry-based learning and the potential benefits of incorporating this in their programs, very few are actually using inquiry methods. Anderson, Comay, and Chiarotto (2017) state, "though curiosity may be natural inquiry in a school setting is neither natural nor easy; it must be learned and worked at" (p. 13). Prior to starting my learning journey into empowered classrooms I had not experienced inquiry-based learning nor did I have the opportunity to see it in action. Many new teachers, who may have been exposed to inquiry projects during their training, do not experience or observe inquiry during their practicums. Helm and Katz (2016) state, "teachers of young children who have not had the opportunity to observe others guide project work are often at a loss as to how to get started and then follow through" (p. 10). I often wanted to try doing inquiry projects in my classroom but I had no idea how or where to start. Planning is a barrier that teachers face when trying to implement inquiry-based learning. Smarapungavan, Patrick, and Mantzicopoulous (2011) found, "a key challenge in designing guided inquiry for young children is finding investigative frameworks that allow them to generate meaningful knowledge" (p. 419).

In order to help address the barrier around planning and implementing inquiry projects in the classroom the webpage demonstrates how to use the inquiry workshop model as developed by Goudvis, Harvey, and Buhrow (2019). I chose to use this model for two reasons. The first is that it follows the same methodology as used for writers workshop which is a teaching method many teachers have experience with. By using a model that is familiar to teachers it helps to alleviate some of the fear associated with trying something new. Knight (2018) states, "we might be afraid that we are going to embarrass ourselves or fail" (p. 23). If a teacher has had success

implementing readers and writers workshop, applying the same model to inquiry learning should alleviate some fear associated with trying something different.

Using the inquiry workshop as part of the writer's workshop helps address the time barrier that teachers experience. Instead, passion projects become part of reading and writing workshop lessons which are already scheduled in our early childhood classrooms. Alberta Learning (2004), states "inquiry–based learning is not an add-on, but rather a way to achieve the goals of the Alberta Program of Study since inquiry-based learning is a component of the Alberta curricula" (p. ix). Passion projects should not be seen as a big project that needs to be completed on top of all the other learning in the classroom. These projects are a replacement for some of the less active learning methods often used in the classroom. Demonstrating how to use this model in connection to student passions helps teachers see these activities as a natural progression to what is already happening in the classroom and not as another add on.

The webpage goes through the four phases of a passion project and describes different activities that can be a part of those four phases. According to Goudvis et al. (2019) these are immersion, investigation, coalesce, and taking it public. The final stage is an important stage of passion projects that can be easy to neglect due to time and planning constraints. It is however, a great way to meet several kindergarten learner outcomes from the English language arts curriculum that focuses on oral language skills and celebrating student achievement. This stage also adds purpose to the projects and creates incredible empowering moments where students can be experts and teach others. A great example of this happened when a young man from my class who had a lot of challenging emotions he was dealing with completed a passion project on how a car engine works. For the first time in the school year this young man's peers were completely engaged in what he was telling them and they were able to see him in a positive light.

Several of the boys wanted to spend time at the small world center with him that afternoon and he continued to teach them all he knew about cars. It was a turning point for this young man as he and his peers were able to see what an amazing individual he was. He, like the young boy with challenging behaviours described in Shalaby (2017) "wanted to be authentically heard, to be known, and to be celebrated" (p. 145). His voice was heard and his passions were shared.

The warning component for the Passion page of the Empowered Early Childhood Classroom website focuses on the importance of creating a climate of inquiry in the classroom. There are several different ways to prepare students to participate in passion projects. Some of these include but are not limited to: taking I wonder walks or participating in see, think, wonder routines (Ritchhart, Church, & Morrison, 2011); question sorts (Ritchhar & Church, 2020); or using and I wonder wall to display student questions. Teachers are encouraged to explore the thinking routines found in the project section of the website for more information on developing a climate of inquiry in the classroom. In my own experience, trying to start passion projects without first focusing on how to ask questions, how to observe the world, how to find information resulted in lessons that were frustrating not only for the students but for myself as well.

# **Portfolios**

The goal I have for this section of the 6 Ps of empowerment website is to move teachers away from portfolios being a collection of seasonal based worksheets and crafts or scrapbooks of student activities, such as field trips and special occasions, towards the portfolio becoming a tool for documenting students' learning during play- and inquiry-based learning. On the website teachers are asked to reflect on how they are currently assessing students. They are then led through a process to plan for the purposeful use of portfolios and are provided planning

documents to help them think through what should be included in student portfolios. Finally the website looks at how students will have access to and share portfolios with others.

A portfolio is a collection of artefacts that showcases student thinking, skills, understandings, and accomplishments over time. A portfolio can include artefacts created at school or artefacts from home and school. Farrell and Seery (2018) describe a portfolio as "a vehicle for bringing together judiciously selected samples of students' work and achievements inside and outside the classroom for authentic assessment over time" (p. 76). There are several benefits to using a portfolio to document student learning and progress. Some agreed upon advantages of portfolios are that they permit a more authentic assessment of student learning, they help to make student thinking visible, they promote self-reflection and self-evaluation, facilitate communication between all stakeholders about a student's learning, and encourage students to play a more active role in their learning (Barrett, 2007; Farrell & Seery, 2018; Hall & Hewitt-Gervais, 2000; Knauf, 2016).

It is important to make the learning portfolio a key ingredient in day-to-day activities. Tolisano and Hale (2018) state, "the heart of documenting is capturing the learning and thinking while it is happening, not simply capturing what has happened" (p. 15). Being prepared to capture the moment when it happens becomes a key skill for teachers to learn. The classroom environment/set up section of the Portfolios webpage includes ideas for ways the classroom can be set up so that portfolio use is part of daily routines and activities. It suggests simple changes such as having cameras or iPads readily available for students to document accomplishments independently. Allowing students to choose artefacts to include in the portfolio increases student ownership of the portfolio and empowers them in the assessment and documentation of learning process. On the website I also recommend thinking through how and where the portfolios will be

stored so that students can have access to their portfolios when they want to look at them, review them, or check them to remember what their learning goals are.

Prior to starting the use of learning portfolios in the classroom there are some essential questions that need to be asked, explored, and answered in order to prevent the portfolio from becoming a random selection of artefacts that is referred to at parent teacher conferences and the end of the year. Goldsmith (2007) states, "implementing portfolios requires planning, new procedures, new ways of thinking, additional resources, and training for both faculty and students" (p. 31). The first question at the fundamental core of portfolio use is: what is the purpose of the portfolio? What are you hoping to achieve through the use of the portfolio. Do you want it to be a showcase of the student's finest work? Do you want the portfolio to demonstrate student learning over time? Do you want the portfolio to help make student thinking visible? The purpose behind the portfolio guides the answers to all other questions requiring answers when setting up a portfolio.

Once the purpose of the portfolio is set, teachers are guided to determine how the portfolio will be organized. This includes examining different headings or categories that could be used. There are a variety of ways to organize a portfolio. It can be organized by subjects or domains (science, literacy, math); by competencies (information management, wellness, communication); by student roles (I am a writer, I am a creator, I am a critical thinker); or by student learner outcomes (Berger, Rugen, Woodfin, & Johnston, 2014). The categories that are chosen will directly impact the type of artefacts that are chosen and how reflection and review of the artefacts is approached. Learning in the realm of 21st century competencies can be difficult to document. Habeeb and Ebrahim (2019) found, "e-portfolios are a particularly effective tool for assessing the acquisition of students skills, specifically the skills of criticism, creativity, and

innovation" (p. 1665). Connecting portfolio artefacts under headings such as evidence that I am a writer or evidence that I am an innovative thinker as opposed to Language Arts or Science helps students and stake holders see the connections between student learning, the curriculum, and the competencies. It also helps students connect learning from different subject areas and can help with the learning transfer between subject areas.

Next teachers are guided through how to store artefacts. The traditional method of storing portfolio artefacts has been in a binder using page protectors and papers, or in a large folder (often created by stapling two pieces of poster board together). There has been a move towards the use of electronic portfolios in my school district and to acknowledge this, different online options are presented to teachers on the Portfolios webpabe. Research is showing that eportfolios provide more frequent opportunities for students to engage in the reflection process (Barrett, 2007; Hooker, 2019). This is largely because they are easy to access. Another benefit of an electronic portfolio is increased opportunities for parents to engage with the documents. Hooker (2019) found that "e-portfolios are an excellent tool to engage parents and families in their children's learning" (p. 378). Electronic portfolios also provide opportunities for different forms of documentation to be collected and require a smaller time commitment from teachers than traditional portfolios. The inclusion of videos is a key difference between electronic portfolios and traditional paper portfolios. A USB stick could be included in a paper portfolio to allow for the sharing of videos. In my own classroom I have moved from a binder portfolio system to a digital portfolio. One of my favourite features of the digital portfolio is that parents have the opportunity to comment on student submissions as well. The students in my class are very excited to share their work with parents as well and this is often very motivating for them. Frequently when a picture is taken students will ask if it is being shared with their parents.

Creating this triangle of learning with the student, the parents, and the teacher has proven to be advantageous not only for assessment but for building relationships and for transferring learning outside of the classroom. This past year students started including submissions from learning that had occurred at home. One example of this is a student who submitted a picture to their portfolio that showed a garden she had helped to plant. Upon careful examination of the picture I could see tiny row markers with carefully written words for the vegetables that had been planted. Including such invented spelling as pes (peas) and carts (carrots). Another example is a student who included a picture of a movie theatre she had created complete with a concession stand where she sold tickets to see the movie as well as candy and popcorn. The caption included stated "I added money."

As we move towards electronic options Barrett (2007) cautions, "we must continue to focus on how the medium supports and influences the purpose of the portfolio" (p. 439). It is essential to remember that the purpose and goal of the portfolio drives the decisions for how the portfolio is set up and what is included. These choices should not be based solely on what an electronic platform can do. If one is choosing an electronic platform for their learning portfolios it is important to research different options and find the one best suited to the goals and purposes of the portfolio. It is for this reason that several online platforms are included as options as well as why format comes after purpose and headings in the provided planning guide. Traditional paper portfolios are also included as an option so that comfort levels with technology do not become a barrier to the use of portfolios.

This then leads to questions about how and what will be documented in the learning portfolio. Knauf (2016) states, "if a portfolio is assembled with a wide range of different documents, it can tell a story that is meaningful for all those involved, especially the child"

(p. 482). Documenting student learning and making thinking visible is time consuming and a skill that requires planning and practice. Documentation in my classroom has included digital or printed photographs, transcripts of student discussions, observations and anecdotal records, learning stories, videos of students, writing samples, and student produced artefacts such as art projects. Careful selection of and planning for documentation is a key component of effective portfolio use.

How you document will depend on what purpose the documentation is serving. Wurm (2005) states, "documentation can serve to illuminate thinking, a change in thinking, what was learned or not learned, the evolution of behaviour, questioning, maturity, responses or opinions" (p. 99). When planning for portfolio use and when selecting artefacts to use in the portfolio, four aspects of documenting learning should be kept in mind. Rosenthal-Talisano and Hale (2018) state that these aspects are "visibility, meaningfulness, shareability, and amplification" (p. 4). We need to remember to ask "what does this artefact mean? What learning skill, attribute, or habit is it making visible? How does this artefact help to further student learning and lead to goal setting?" On the Portfolios webpabe, teachers are asked to reflect on these very questions as they plan and prepare for portfolio use in their classrooms.

Not everything that is shareable is worth sharing. Rosenthal-Talisano and Hale (2018) state, "there is a difference between sharing for sharing's sake versus sharing strategically to gain desired insights and feedback" (p. 20). Not everything that is sharable is a documentation of learning. A collection of pictures and completed projects or a series of writing samples is just that, a collection. Paulson, Paulson, and Meyer (1991) state, "the collection must include student participation in selecting contents, the criteria for selection, the criteria for judging merit, and evidence of student reflection" (p. 60). Documenting learning is more than just collecting student

artefacts. Barrett (2007) states, "evidence in a portfolio is not only measured by the artefacts that a learner places there, but also by the accompanying rationale that the learner provides - their argument as to why these artefacts constitute evidence" (p. 439). To transform a collection of artefacts into a portfolio a description of what the artefact demonstrates and reflection on what that artefacts demonstrates about student thinking or learning needs to be present. It involves reflection on these artefacts and what they illuminate about the student. Teachers are asked on the website to plan time to engage in reviewing artefacts with students and to include the student explanation as part of the portfolio. During this conference time, teachers are encouraged to set goals with students and to discuss next steps can be created with students as well.

To assist teachers in planning for the creation of purposeful portfolios, a planning document is provided. This document guides teachers through all the different planning stages. It also includes a focus on curricular outcomes. As with all other planning documents it is essential that ties to curricular outcomes are included to keep the focus of the portfolio on learning outcomes. An interesting thing happened last year, my second year of using digital portfolios. During parent-teacher interviews I started each meeting by asking the parents if they had a chance to review their child's report card. Only one parent answered affirmatively to this question. After about the eighth parent said no, I started to ask if they needed some support in how to access the report card online or if they would like a printed copy. The parents informed me that they didn't need to see the report card; they knew from the digital portfolio how their child was doing and what they needed to learn next. Parents who had children in my class previously informed me that the portfolio made more sense to them than the report card did. By including curricular outcomes in the student portfolio I had made my report cards irrelevant to parents. The conversations were then able to focus more on what the parents noticed and goals

that they were working on at home with the children as well and how as a team we could all work together to advance the knowledge and skills of the child.

Learning portfolios have been shown to increase student level of performance when reflection and student ownership are present. Barrett (2007) found that portfolios "improve student learning by providing a structure for students to reflect systematically, over time on the learning process and to develop the aptitudes, skills, and habits that come from critical reflection" (p. 438). Knowing that they are responsible for proving they have achieved certain learning goals and for playing a role in setting those learning goals empowers students. It gives students a voice in their learning and thus engages them in the learning cycle. If used effectively the learning portfolio operates like a traffic circle where curriculum, assessment, and instruction continually merge in and out of the learning experience.

This section of the website ends with a warning to teachers about keeping the portfolio student-centred. It is very easy for a portfolio to be a teacher driven practice. Without careful planning and reflection the majority of items included often end up being teacher chosen and teacher created. Knauf warned that often, "the dominance of the teachers' contributions makes it clear that many portfolios are documentation *about* the children, and not so much documentation created with or by the child" (p. 484). To prevent this from occurring teachers are encouraged to think about how students will be given a chance to reflect and evaluate the artefacts included in their student portfolios. Student voice in the descriptors of the artefacts and explanations as to why the artefacts were included is another key component in portfolio use in an empowered classroom. It ensures that the students are active agents in the process. Students need guidelines as to what counts as good artefacts to collect. Setting expectations and comparing current artefacts to previously collected artefacts in the student portfolio helps empower the student and

keep the focus of the portfolio on student growth and achievements thus allowing it to be both assessment as learning and of learning.

As always, the page concludes with an invitation to teachers to set goals related to the creation and use of portfolios in the classroom. Teachers are once again reminded to start small, reflect, and continue to build and grow in their documentation skills.

## Purpose

The purpose section of the 6 Ps of Empowerment website has a slightly different format than the other webpages as it is not a principle that stands alone; it is a principle that is incorporated into all of the other principles. Purpose is presented as two metaphors. It is first introduced as the engine that drives a train with play, projects, passions, peers, and portfolios being the other cars of the train. Purpose is what pulls all the other Ps foward and keeps it focused on curriculum and 21st century competencies. Without purpose, the classroom may be filled with a lot of fun activities but the learning can easily become directionless. The cars on the track remain motionless and stuck as unintegrated learning often is in student brains. Resnick (2018) states, "when students solve sets of disconnected problems, they often end up with disconnected knowledge, without an understanding of why they were learning or how to apply it in new situations" (p. 53). The lack of purpose often demonstrates itself as teachers finding fun crafts on Pinterest to lead students in and then searching for loose curricular ties for that activity, or worksheet activities where students learn about an individual letter with no context or purpose beyond memorizing the letter. With purpose, students learn about the letter A through purposeful writing activities such as creating a supply list for the dramatic play center or creating a poster to share what was learned during a passion project. When going through steep mountain passes trains often need more than one engine. One to pull and one to push. Purpose is also what nudges students to continue learning. It is a large factor in developing intrinsic motivation for students. When students know the reasons behind an activity they are more willing to engage with the activity without extrinsic rewards such as stickers and free time.

Purpose looks slightly different when considered in relationship to each of the other principles. In play, purpose is what seperates free play from play for the purpose of learning. Diamond, Grob, and Reitze (2015) state "teachers must ensure that a preference for experiential learning doesn't prevent them from monitoring children's acquistition of skills, and teaching the skills necessary for academic success" (p. 12). Without being purposeful, play will not address curricular outcomes. Without scaffolding of the play, students will not progress beyond current levels of understanding and skills.

In projects and passions purpose is found in choosing an issue or question to focus on. If the issue is not relevant, if the students do not see any purpose in finding an answer to the question, the project will not achieve its ultimate goals. Resnick (2018) states, "the only way they can persist and persevere through all the challenges is if they work on topics that they are truly passionare about" (p. 72). Without purposefully choosing a topic for a critical inquiry or passion project student will not endure to the end without the use of extrinsic rewards. Purpose is found in providing an authentic audience to share student learning with. Students understand that the information they are gathering and learning about is important and they will be sharing that information with others for whom the topic or issue is relevant.

With peers, purpose is found in the careful planning of peer interactions for the purpose of assessment and increased knowledge. Resnick (2018) states, teams ar dynamic and flexible, evolving to meet the needs of the project and the interests of the participants" (p. 93). When grouping peers together for learning activities teachers need to consider what the aim and goal of

the acitivity is. Are students being paired for the purpose of addressing gaps in learning or common learning goals? Are students being group so that one student may take on a mentor role? Are students being grouped because of a common interest or passion? My hope is that the analogies presented on the Purpose webpage will be thought-provoking for teachers and help them understand and appreciate the holistic framework of the 6 Ps.

### Conclusion

Engagement is no longer a strong enough goal for students in the classroom. Students need to be empowered in their learning. Our classrooms need to reflect democracy and the society we want to build for the future. Designing our curriculum and instruction within a 6 P framework provides students with the opportunities to build the knowledge and skills they need to become proficient critical thinkers and caring citizens: "This sort of education is a necessary ingredient of a just and democratic society. It nourishes a concerned and active citizenry" (Diamond, Grob, & Reitze, 2015, p. 7). Through the use of critical inquiry projects, peer interactions, passion projects, portfolios, play and purpose students actively participate in a democratic classroom. They learn that their voice matters and that positive relationships are crucial for learning and living. Students gain experience is what it means to be a good citizen,

The future needs us to teach students to think both critically and creatively. Robinson (2015) states, "In the right circumstances we are highly imaginative and creative. In a culture of compliance, these capacities are actively discouraged, even resented" (p. 37). By designing learning opportunities in my kindergarten program around the 6 P principles, I have seen an increase in creative thinking by students as well as students having more courage to try new activities and take risks in their learning. The ceiling is high and the walls are wide (Resnick, 2018).

Incorporporating the 6 Ps into my kindergarten classroom has changed the energy in my room. Students are excited to come to class, I spend very little time disciplining students now and more time teaching students. Montessori (1976) noticed this same phenomenon when she wrote, "it would seem to me that children are very well disciplined indeed when they can move around a room in a useful, intelligent, and free fashiom without doing anything rude or unmannerly" (p. 54). Students are intrinsically motivated and I no longer need a drawer full of stickers and rewards to get kids to engage and comply with learning tasks. They know that they are active participants in their learning, and that their learning and growth is their responsibility and I am there to help. Students want to have a say in what they do and what they learn. Shalaby (2017) states, "they urge us toward a conception in which power is shared and in which there are no throw-away lives" (p. 169). I no longer go home from work exhausted and frustrated. I no longer spend my lunch break complaining about how unriuly or difficult the students were. I go home excited about the next day and what I will be discovering with the students.

Far too often we try to change children to fit the mold of school. Shalaby (2017) states, "We rely on changing children rather than changing classroom demands" (p. 681). This is not helping our students, ourselves, nor our future leaders. It is time to change how we teach and how our classrooms function to meet the demands of students today. The 6 Ps of empowerment are principles for instructional design that represent a step towards the classrooms our students need and deserve.

#### References

- Alberta Education. (2008). Kindergarten program statement. Retrieved from: <a href="https://education.alberta.ca/media/563583/kindprogstate2008.pdf">https://education.alberta.ca/media/563583/kindprogstate2008.pdf</a>
- Alberta Learning. (2004). Focus on inquiry. Retrieved from <a href="https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/032c67af-325c-4039-a0f3-100f44306910/resource/b7585634-fabe-4488-a836-af22f1cbab2a/download/29065832004focusoninquiry.pdf">https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/032c67af-325c-4039-a0f3-100f44306910/resource/b7585634-fabe-4488-a836-af22f1cbab2a/download/29065832004focusoninquiry.pdf</a>
- Alberta Government. (2013). Ministerial order#001/2013. Retrieved from: <a href="https://education.alberta.ca/media/1626588/ministerial-order-on-student-learning.pdf">https://education.alberta.ca/media/1626588/ministerial-order-on-student-learning.pdf</a>
- Anderson, D., Chiarotto, L., & Comay, J. (2017). *Natural curiosity: A resource for educators:*The importance of Indigenous perspectives in children's environmental inquiry. Toronto,
  ON.: The Laboratory School, Dr. Eric Jackman Institute of Child Study, Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, University of Toronto.
- Bailin, S. & Battersby, M. (2016) *Reason in the balance: An inquiry approach to critical thinking*. Indianapolis, IN: Hackett Publishing Company Inc.
- Barblett, L., Knaus, M., & Barratt-Pugh, C. (2016). The pushes and pulls of pedagogy in the early years: Competing knowledges and the erosion of play-based learning. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 41(4), 36-43. doi:10.1177/183693911604100405
- Barrett, H. C. (2007). Researching electronic portfolios and learner engagement: The REFLECT initiative. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 50(6), 436-449. doi:10.1598/jaal.50.6.2
- Berger, R., Rugen, L., Woodfin, L., & Johnston, M. (2014). Leaders of their own learning: Transforming schools through student-engaged assessment. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Bourke, R. (2015). Liberating the learner through self-assessment. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 46(1), 97-111. doi:10.1080/0305764x.2015.1015963
- Bransford, J. D., Brown, A. L., & Cocking, R. R. (2000). *How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school.* Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Burke, A. M. (2019). *Invitations to play: Using play to build literacy skills in young learners*. Markham, ON: Pembroke.
- Calder, N. (2015). Student wonderings: Scaffolding student understanding within student-centred inquiry learning. *Zdm*, 47(7), 1121-1131. doi:10.1007/s11858-015-0734-z
- Chung, Y.-C., Carter, E. W., & Sisco, L. G. (2012). Social interactions of students with disabilities who use augmentative and alternative communication in inclusive classrooms. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 117(5), 349–367.

- Cuban, L. (1988). A foundational puzzle of school reform. *The Phi Delta Kappan*. 69(5), 340-344.
- Daniels, H. (2017) *The curious classroom*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Diamnond, Grob, Reitze (2015) *Teaching kindergarten. Learner centered classrooms for the 21st century.* New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Edwards, S. (2017). Play-based learning and intentional teaching: Forever different? Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 42(2), 4-11. doi:10.23965/ajec.42.2.01
- Eronen, L., & Kärnä, E. (2017). Students acquiring expertise through student-centered learning in mathematics lessons. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 62(5), 682-700. doi:10.1080/00313831.2017.1306797
- Estes, C. A. (2004). Promoting student-centered learning in experiential education. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 27(2), 141-160. doi: 10.1177/105382590402700203
- Farrell, O., & Seery, A. (2018). "I am not simply learning and regurgitating information, I am also learning about myself": Learning portfolio practice and online distance students. *Distance Education*, 40(1), 76-97. doi:10.1080/01587919.2018.1553565
- Fesseha, E., & Pyle, A. (2016). Conceptualising play-based learning from kindergarten teachers' perspectives. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 24(3), 361-377. doi:10.1080/09669760.2016.1174105
- Gini-Newman, G., & Case, R. (2015). *Critical discussion: "C3" thinking: Critical, creative, collaborative*. <a href="https://tc2.ca/en/creative-collaborative-critical-thinking/resources/professional-library/">https://tc2.ca/en/creative-collaborative-critical-thinking/resources/professional-library/</a>
- Goldsmith, D.J. (2007). Enhancing learning and assessment through e-portfolios: A collaborative effort in Connecticut. *New Directions for Student Services 119*, 31-42.
- Goudvis, A., Harvey, S., Buhrow, B., Halverson, K., & Joseph, E. (2019). *Inquiry illuminated:* Researcher's workshop across the curriculum. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Habeeb, K. M., & Ebrahim, A. H. (2018). Impact of e-portfolios on teacher assessment and student performance on learning science concepts in kindergarten. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24(2), 1661-1679. doi:10.1007/s10639-018-9846-8
- Hall, B. W., & Hewitt-Gervais, C. M. (2000). The application of student portfolios in primary-intermediate and self- contained-multiage team classroom environments: Implications for instruction, learning, and assessment. *Applied Measurement in Education*, *13*(2), 209-228. doi:10.1207/s15324818ame1302\_5
- Hargreaves, A. (1998). The emotional politics of teaching and teacher development: With implications for educational leadership. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, *I*(4), 315-336.

- Hargreaves, A. & Goodson, I. (2006). Educational change over time? The sustainability and nonsustainability of three decades of secondary school change and continuity. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 42 (1), 3-41.
- Helm, J. H., & Katz, L. G. (2016). *Young investigators: The project approach in the early years*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Hirsch, E. S. (1996). *The block book* (3rd ed.). Washington, D.C., D.C.: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Hooker, T. (2019). Using eportfolios in early childhood education: Recalling, reconnecting, restarting and learning. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 17(4), 376-391. doi:10.1177/1476718x19875778
- in de Wal, J. J., den Brok, P.J., Hooijer, J.G., Martens, R.L, & van den Beemt, A. (2014). Teachers' engagement in professional learning: Exploring motivational profiles. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 36, 27-36.
- Johnson, L., McHugh, S., Jessica, E. L., & Hiller, S. A. (2016). Project-based inquiry (PBI) globalization in kindergarten classroom: Inquiring about the world. *Early Childhood Education*, 47(5), 607-613.
- Kelchtermans, G (1996). Teacher vulnerability: Understanding its moral and political roots. *Cambrige Journal of Education*, 26(30), 307-323.
- Kelchtermans, G. (2009). Who I am in how I teach is the message: Self-understanding, vulnerability and reflection. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 15(2), 257-272.
- Kemple, K. M. (2017). *Planning for play: Strategies for guiding preschool learning*. Lewisville, NC: Gryphon House.
- Kennedy, M.M. (2016). How does professional development improve teaching? *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4), 945-980.
- Keung, C.P. & Cheung, A.C. (2019). Towards a holistic supporting of play-based learning implementation in kindergartens: A mixed method study. *Early Childhood Journal*, 47, 627-640.
- Knauf, H. (2016). Making an impression: Portfolio as instuments of impression management ofr teachers in early childhood education and care centers. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 45(4), 481-491.
- Knight, J. (2018). Escape. Why educators frequently turn away from opportunities to learn, and what we can do about it. *Educational Leadership*, 76(3), 20-26.

- Lee, E., & Hannafin, M. J. (2016). A design framework for enhancing engagement in student-centred learning: own it, learn it, share it. *Education Tech Research Dev*, 64, 707-734. doi:10.1007/s11423-015-9422-5
- Lillard, A. S., Lerner, M. D., Hopkins, E. J., Dore, R. A., Smith, E. D., & Palmquist, C.M. (2013). The impact of pretend play on children's development: A review of the evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 139(1), 1-34. doi:10.1037/a0029321
- Martin, K. (2018). Learner centered innovation: Spark curiosity, ignite passion and unleash genius. IMPress.
- Merriam, S.B., & Biersma, L.L (2014). *Adult learning linking theory and practice*. San Francisco: CA, Jossey-Bass.
- Montesorri, M (1976). The discovery of the child. New York, NY: Fides Publishing Inc.
- Nosich, G. (2011). Learning to think things through: A guide to critical thinking across the curriculum (4th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson.
- Paley, V.G. (2004). A child's work: The importance of fantasy play. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Paulson, F. L., Paulson, P. R., & Meyer, C. A. (1991). What makes a portfolio a portfolio. *Educational Leadership*, 48(5), 60-63.
- Pui-Wah, D. C., & Stimpson, P. (2004). Articulating contrasts in kindergarten teachers' implicit knowledge on play-based learning. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 41(4-5), 339-352. doi:10.1016/j.ijer.2005.08.005
- Pyle, A., & Danniels, E. (2017). A continuum of play-based learning: The role of the teacher in play-based pedagogy and the fear of hijacking play. *Early Education and Development*, 28(3), 274-289. doi:10.1080/10409289.2016.1220771
- Pyle, A., Poliszczuk, D., & Danniels, E. (2018). The challenges of promoting literacy integration within a play-based learning kindergarten program: Teacher perspectives and implementation. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 32(2), 219-233. doi:10.1080/02568543.2017.1416006
- Resnick, M. (2018). *Lifelong kindergarten: Cultivating creativity through projects, passion, peers, and play.* Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Ritchhart, R. (2015). Creating cultures of thinking: The 8 forces we must master to truly transform our schools. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Ritchhart, R., & Church, M. (2020). *The power of making thinking visible practices to engage and empower all learners*. Hoboken, NJ: Jossey-Bass.

- Ritchhart, R., Church M., & Morrison, K. (2011). *Making thinking visible: How to promote engagement, understanding, and independence for all learners*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Robinson, K., & Aronica L. (2015). *Creative schools the grassroots revolution that's transforming education*. New York, NY: Penguin Books.
- Rosenthal-Tolisano, S., & Hale, J. A. (2018). A guide to documenting learning making thinking visible, meaningful, shareable, and amplified. Thousand Oaks, Ca: Corwin.
- Samarapungavan, A., Patrick, H., & Mantzicopoulos, P. (2011). What kindergarten students learn in inquiry-based science classroom. *Cognition and Instruction*, 29(4), 416-470.
- Schunk, D. H. (1996). Goal and self-evaluative influences during children's cognitive skill learning. *American Educational Research Journal*, *33*(2), 359-382. doi:10.3102/00028312033002359
- Shalaby, C. (2017). *Troublemakers: Lessons in freedom from young children at school.* New York, NY: The New Press.
- Shipley, C. D. (2013). *Empowering children: Play-based curriculum for lifelong learning*. Toronto, ON: Nelson Education.
- Stacey, S. (2015). *Pedagogical documentation in early childhood: Sharing children's learning and teachers' thinking.* St. Paul, MN: Redleaf Press.
- Stacey, S. (2019). *Inquiry-based early learning environments: Creating, supporting, and collaborating.* St. Paul, MN: Redleaf Press.
- Taylor, K. & Marienau, C. (2016) Facilitating learning with the adult brain in mind. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Topping, K. J. (2013). Peers as a source of formative assessment and summative assessment. In J. H. McMillan (Ed.), *SAGE handbook of research on classroom assessment* (pp. 395-412). Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Weimer, M. (2013). *Learner-centered teaching: Five key changes to practice* (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Weisberg, D. S., Hirsh-Pasek, K., & Golinkoff, R. M. (2013). Guided play: Where curricular goals meet a playful pedagogy. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, 7(2), 104-112. doi:10.1111/mbe.12015
- Weitzman, E., & Leslie, H. G. (2002). Learning language and loving it a guide to promoting children's social, language and literacy development in early childhood settings. Toronto, ON: Hanen Centre.

Wurm, J. P. (2005). Working in the Reggio way: A beginner's guide for American teachers. St. Paul, MN: Redleaf Press.